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  GENERAL INFORMATION

In law a man is guilty when he violates 
the rights of others. In ethics he is 
guilty if he only thinks of doing so.

Immanuel Kant 
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1. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW 

VISION

• We are a Board that is transparent  
 and responsive to the needs of  
 the sheriffs’ profession.

• We will promote a professional  
 sheriffs’ service that is respectful  
 and efficient to deliver justice to  
 all with integrity and accountability.

MISSION

• We will provide a professional and  
 credible service to all our clients  
 and other stakeholders. 

• We will develop skilled,   
 knowledgeable and motivated staff.

• We will develop a unified and  
 committed Board with focused  
 leadership.

• We will enhance the image and  
 goodwill of the sheriffs’ profession.

CORE VALUES

• ACCOUNTABILITY         

• INTEGRITY

• PROFESSIONALISM

• TRANSPARENCY

• EFFICIENCY

• RESPECT

• EQUITY

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The Board has adopted a Strategic 
Plan for the 3-year period of 2015 
to 2018. Management is charged 
with operationalising the plan 
and reporting quarterly on the 
performance achievements on the 
stated objectives. 

These objectives are:

Compliance
• To enforce compliance with the  
 Sheriffs Act and subordinate  
 legislation governing sheriffs 

Fidelity Fund
• To increase the financial   
 performance of the Fidelity  
 Fund through effective   
 management thereof

Sustainability of the sheriffs’ 
profession
• To improve the financial   
 sustainability of the sheriffs’  
 profession 

Enhancing the sheriffs’ 
profession
• To build capacity and   
 professionalise the sheriffs’  
 profession

Governance and corporate 
support services
• To improve compliance with legal  
 requirements and good   
 governance principles to increase  
 stakeholder trust

2. CORE BUSINESS

The core business of the South 
African Board for Sheriffs is:

• To transform the sheriffs’   
 profession, the SA Board for  
 Sheriffs and its staff and to bring  
 it in line with constitutional 
 imperatives.

• To review legislation and all other  
 relevant legislation, among others  
 the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986. 

• To communicate effectively with  
 all stakeholders and sheriffs.

• To discipline sheriffs. 

• To monitor the conduct of sheriffs.

• To promote professionalism.

• To set standards for training.

• To set up the necessary training  
 programmes.

• To formulate policy directives.

• To ensure effective management  
 of the Board and its office.

3. GOVERNANCE AND 
LEGISLATIVE MANDATES

The South African Board for Sheriffs 
(SABFS) is a regulatory statutory body 
established in terms of Section 7 of 
the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986 (Sheriffs 
Act), and it has as its objectives the 
maintenance of the esteem of, the 
enhancement of the status of, and 
the improvement of the standard of 
training of and functions performed 
by sheriffs.

The table on page 6 is a summary of 
key legislation and policy documents 
that apply to the SABFS.
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4. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE – OFFICE OF THE BOARD

The Board has approved an organogram for SABFS. The Board is managed by an Executive Manager who reports directly to the 
Board.

ACT/OTHER MANDATE DOCUMENTS PURPOSE OF THE ACT/OTHER MANDATE

Constitution and the Bill of Rights The Constitution provides an institutional framework for the SABFS to regulate the 
sheriffs’ profession in line with human rights for all. 

Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986 The Sheriffs Act guides the Board and sheriffs in respect of its rules and regulations.

Magistrates Court Act 32 of 1944 The Act deals with general directives to a sheriff and his or her duties.

High Court Act 59 of 1959 The High Court Act deals with general directives to a sheriff and his or her duties.

Rules Board for Courts of Law Act, 1985 Members of the Rules Board for Courts of Law are appointed by the Minister and 
are responsible for court rules. 

The Public Finance Management Act, 
(PFMA) 1999 (as amended)

Seeks to regulate financial management in the national government and provincial 
governments. The SABFS has voluntarily chosen to comply with most of the 
provisions of the PFMA and these are detailed in our policies. 

Code of Conduct for Sheriffs The Code of Conduct seeks to regulate the manner in which sheriffs perform their 
functions to ensure that they are aware of their role within the justice system of 
South Africa

King III The principles of King III are used by the Board to apply three key elements, namely, 
leadership, sustainability and good corporate governance 

Annual Performance Plan Our annual performance plan contains the SABFS performance targets, 
commitments and measurement framework for the period under review.
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People crushed by laws, have no hope 
but to evade power. If the laws are their 
enemies, they will be enemies to the law; 
and those who have most to hope and 
nothing to lose will always be dangerous.

Edmund Burke

CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

The import of Burke’s words is the 
lived reality of the poor and indigent 
communities that sheriffs and their 
deputies interact with on a daily 
basis. This past year we have seen a 
number of high profile cases where the 
fundamental right of equality before the 
law was juxtaposed with the demand 
for and the recognition of social justice 
for the poor and the indigent. One of our 
values is respect and for us this means 
that we will treat everyone with dignity 
and consideration while giving effect 
to our role as an impartial officer of the 
court. We felt it is therefore apt that the 
theme for our Annual Report be ‘equal 
in dignity and rights’.

SABFS Strategy

Our Strategic Plan has been 
crafted after extensive stakeholder 
consultation. The outcome is a strategy 
that is responsive to key priorities within 
the sector. The SABFS entrenched 

its reputation as the authority of the 
sheriffs’ profession that is responsive 
to all stakeholder needs. 

The SABFS strategy is aligned with 
government strategic objectives set 
out in the Medium- term Strategic 
Framework (MTSF) with emphasis on 
the fourth strategic priority, namely 
to strengthen the skills and human 
resource base. In addition, the SABFS 
has also aligned its strategy to that of the 
Department of Justice and Constitutional 
Development (DOJCD).

Transformation of the 
sheriffs’ profession

As at the end of the financial year, we 
had 285 appointed sheriffs. In terms 
of demographics, 41% are white, 39% 
black, 12% coloured and 8% Indian. 
Women had a 26% representation.

As at year-end there were 767 deputy 
sheriffs who were appointed by the 
SABFS. Only 19% of deputy sheriffs are 
women. In terms of demographics, 47% 
are white, 35% black, 11% coloured 
and 7% Indian.

The Board welcomed our new 
Executive Manager Sharon Snell 
and General Manager: Legal and 

Complaints, Vanessa Botha in 
August last year. As a result of these 
appointments, the management team 
of the Board is now fully capacitated. 

Rules Board representation

Mr Thaka Seboka, the Sheriff of Pretoria 
Central, was appointed by the Minister 
of Justice and Correctional Services, 
Adv TM Masutha, as a representative 
from the sheriffs’ profession to the Cost 
Committee of the Rules Board. This 
followed an appeal by the SABFS to the 
Ministry to be represented on the Rules 
Board. The Ministry has undertaken to 
take our request into account when a 
vacancy becomes available. 

Risk based inspection 
model

Traditional inspections are carried out 
at the sheriff’s office and these have 
proven to be very costly. As a result, 
the Board has only been conducting 
inspections after investigating a 
complaint or a claim against the Fidelity 
Fund. Experience has shown that 
this intervention is coming too late, 
as the sheriff complained about often 
has a long history of rolling money 
in the trust account and eventually 
the mismanagement leads to serious 



your regular and valued inputs and high 
levels of participation in our programmes. 
My appreciation is also extended to the 
Honourable Deputy Minister, Mr John 
Jeffery, MP, who is very hands on and 
approachable in all matters that affect the 
industry. Congratulations to Sharon Snell 
and the management team on a job well 
done.

  

 

Charmaine Mabuza
Chairperson of the SABFS Board
30 June 2016
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shortages. A new desktop inspection 
model introduced by the Board uses 
risk stratification to identify and predict 
high risk sheriff offices to target for 
on-site inspections. The plan will see 
20% of sheriffs undergoing desktop 
inspections annually. This model is 
more economical and will increase the 
reach of the SABFS in carrying out its 
mandated function of ensuring that 
sheriffs are compliant with legislation. 
Inspection teams have been beefed up 
with the requisite financial skills to be 
able to detect any financial irregularities 
in the trust accounts. 

Disciplinary 

The SABFS received 207 formal 
complaints against sheriffs and 
resolved or closed 143 for the period. 
This represents a closure rate of 69%. 
All backlogs have been eliminated as a 
result of increased disciplinary hearings 
which have taken place during the 
financial year. A schedule of disciplinary 
enquiry outcomes is included in this 
report in Part B. 

Fidelity Fund

Through prudent management, the 
value of the Fidelity Fund was increased 
by almost 10% over the financial period. 
The Fund is now valued at R126.5 
million (2014/15 - R115.7 million). The 
Board received 12 new claims during 
the period and paid out claims to the 
value of R559,673. Two sheriffs were 
found guilty of theft of trust monies 
in the criminal courts and sentenced 
accordingly. The Board has resolved to 
pursue criminal charges against sheriffs 
in all instances of theft of trust monies.

Unclaimed Trust Money

The SABFS has made a proposal for 
legislative amendments which would see 
the Board managing any unclaimed trust 
funds which traditionally were retained 
by sheriffs in their trust accounts. 
Recently the Judicial Amendment Bill 

was released for comment, and the 
amendments proposed support the 
Board’s proposal that these funds be 
paid over to the Board for management 
thereof. The SABFS will have to work 
swiftly to put systems and processes 
in place to give effect to this imminent 
change in legislation. 

Acknowledgement 

During the financial year Ms Skosana 
resigned as a member of the Board and 
Chairperson of the Finance Committee. 
We thank her for the short time that she 
spent with us. 

The vacant seat on the Board was filled 
by the appointment of Ms Khunjulwa 
Sigenu with effect from 1 May 2016. We 
welcome her to the Board.

I am blessed with fellow Board members 
who are passionate about the work of 
the Board as I am. Through their robust 
engagement, support and guidance, we 
are able to provide quality leadership. To 
all SABFS stakeholders, I thank you for 

Indian
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RACIAL BREAKDOWN OF SHERIFFS as at 29 February 2016
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12%
8%

41%

White

Black

Coloured



EXECUTIVE MANAGER’S REPORT

Significant progress is always possible if we ourselves 
plan every detail and allow intervention of fate only on 
our own terms. Preparing a master plan and applying 

it are two different things.

Nelson Rolihlahla Mandela

This reporting period is the first year of 
our three year strategy which is aligned 
to the period of the new Board from 
March 2015 to the end of their term 
in 2018. I am pleased to report that 
our results show that our performance 
increased from the previous period. We 
have achieved most of our targets and 
made substantial progress. 

Clean audit opinion 

The external auditors gave both the 
SABFS and the Fidelity Fund an 
unqualified and clean audit report for the 
period.  This sterling performance is a 
reflection that financial management and 
reporting is grounded on transparency 
and good governance principles. 

Financial Management

The SABFS received an income of 
R16.6 million (2014/15 - R7.3 million). 
The income of the SABFS comes from 
three main sources - levies paid in 
terms of Section 19(1); management 
fees from the Fidelity Fund; and 
interest earned on investments. 

INCOME OF THE SABFS

Growth of the Fidelity Fund

The fund is healthy and in a position to 
meet all its contingent liabilities. The 
value of the fund has increased from 
R115,7 million (2014/15) to R126.5 
million (2015/16). The SABFS manages 
the funds through prudent investment 

in the major banks. Interest earned on 
investments for the period increased 
from R5,84 million (2014/15) to R7,36 
million (2015/16). Revenue of the fund 
was 15.08% ahead of budget for the 
period.

Cost of Consultants and 
Technical Advisors

The SABFS’s main service providers are 
listed below. There was a 39% increase 
in consultants’ cost from 2014/15 to 
2015/16. This is due to increased use 
of legal service providers. It is expected 
that these costs will be reduced in the 
new year as a permanent GM: Legal 
and Complaints has been appointed. 
Service providers with spend above 
R100k are listed in the table below. 

COST OF CONSULTANTS AND TECHNICAL ADVISORS - SABFS’s main service providers are listed below:

Consultants and Technical 
Advisors

Service
Cost for 
2014/15

Cost for 
2015/16

SNG Auditors Provide outsourced External auditors 138 296 88 972 

Hugo and Ngwenya Attorneys Provide outsourced Legal services -   167 605 

KPMG VAT RULING Fees Provide outsourced VAT Ruling and VDP submission 129 181 127 566 

TNK Attorneys Provide outsourced Legal services -   280 787 

Nongogo  Nuku Inc. Provide outsourced Legal services -   236 540 

J Tarica Attorneys Provide outsourced Legal services 89 418 213 257 

TEMO Consulting Provide outsourced service SOP Sheriff’s office 185 837 -   

PWC Provide outsourced for Training Strategy -   291 181 

Ngcingwana Inc. Provide outsourced Legal services 100 500 76 827 

Edward Nathan Sonnenberg Inc. Provide outsourced Legal services 486 010 87 096 

    1,129,241 1,569,831 
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CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS

SHERIFF AND JURISDICTION CONVICTION/SENTENCE

Mrs S Yon Sentenced in September 2015.
Three years imprisonment for misappropriating trust money 

Mrs Z Mchunu Sentenced in January 2016.
Five year suspended sentence and two year correctional supervision.

Engaging with the media

The SABFS implements a strategy of honest and open 
engagement with the media. Publications approach us first 
when comment is needed on issues affecting the sheriff 
profession or when information is required. Our media 
footprint report revealed that sheriffs headlined 19 articles 
in the print media mainly dealing with evictions and violence 
against sheriffs.  

Appreciation

I am grateful to our Chairperson, Mrs Charmaine Mabuza, 
and all members of our Board and Committees, for their 
unwavering support, guidance and leadership during the 

Criminal Cases

The Board has adopted a zero tolerance approach to dealing with sheriffs who steal trust monies. In matters where there is a 
claim lodged against the Fidelity Fund, the SABFS ensures that a criminal case of theft is lodged against the sheriff. 

In the table below are the details of sheriffs who were convicted of criminal offences within the financial year.

Civil Cases

The SABFS is empowered in terms of Section 24 of the Act, to apply to courts to interdict a sheriff from dealing with his/her trust 
account where there is prima facie proof of misappropriation and an inherent danger to trust creditors. 

The SABFS was involved in the following civil matters in the year under review:

CIVIL CASES

SHERIFF AND JURISDICTION OUTCOME

Acting Sheriff for Sasolburg 
Mr TR Simelane

A High Court order interdicting the sheriff from dealing with his trust account, 
was obtained.

Sheriff for Mbibane 
L, Mkobola L and Mdutjana L
Mr D Segwane

The sheriff moved 3 High Court applications to stay disciplinary proceedings 
against him. The Board successfully opposed all three applications and the 
disciplinary hearing is currently part-heard. 

year. The SABFS has an established, skilled and qualified 
staff complement who have a good understanding of the 
environment in which sheriffs and the SABFS operate. I 
thank them for their support and producing these excellent 
performance results. Lastly I am grateful to our stakeholders 
for their ongoing commitment and incredible support in my 
first year. Together we have done more. 

  

Sharon Snell  
(Executive Manager)
30 June 2016



GOVERNANCEPART B
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Mrs C Mabuza (Chairperson)

Mr M Magida Mrs P RoodtMs K Sigenu

Adv H Mohamed (Deputy Chairperson)

BOARD MEMBERS
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 Ms M Lephadi

Ms NV Soga Mr I Klynsmith

Mr L Mashapa

Mr T Tembe

Prof L Fernandez
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FINANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE

Ms N Skosana – Chairperson (resigned 1 August 2015)
Ms K Sigenu – Chairperson (appointed 1 May 2016)
Mrs P Roodt – Member (Acting chairperson of the Finance Committee)
Mr L Mashapa – Member

Mr I Klynsmith – Chairperson
Mr T Tembe – Member
Ms NV Soga – Member

FIDELITY FUND COMMITTEE HR AND TRAINING COMMITTEE

Mrs P Roodt – Chairperson
Ms M Lephadi – Member
Mr I Klynsmith – Member
Mr L Mashapa - Member

Mr M Magida – Chairperson
Adv H Mohamed – Ex officio
Prof L Fernandez – Member
Ms NV Soga – Member

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE LEGAL AND LIAISON COMMITTEE

Mr G Cronje - Independent Chairperson
Mr I Klynsmith - Member
Mr M Magida - Member

Mr T Tembe – Chairperson
Ms M Lephadi – Member
Mr M Magida – Member
Prof L Fernandez - Member

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mrs C Mabuza – Chairperson SABFS
Adv H Mohamed – Deputy Chairperson  
Ms K Sigenu – Chairperson Finance Committee
Mrs P Roodt – Chairperson Fidelity Fund Committee
Mr T Tembe – Chairperson Legal and Liaison Committee
Mr M Magida – Chairperson HR and Training Committee
Mr I Klynsmith – Chairperson Complaints Committee 

In terms of the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986 (as amended), the Minister is responsible for the appointment of sheriffs, as well as the 
appointment of the Chairperson of the Board. The Minister has appointed 11 members to serve on the newly constituted South 
African Board for Sheriffs and their three year term of office commenced on 2 March 2015. The Board is broadly representative 
in respect of race, gender and geographical composition. The Board comprises six male and five female members from various 
provinces in the country. Below is the organogram of the Board.

Governance structure 29 February 2016

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is assisted in its functions by six committees and an Executive Committee. Each committee has a formal Terms of Reference in 
place. The Audit and Risk Committee is chaired by an independent chairperson.

1. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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2. SOUND GOVERNANCE AT THE SABFS

Stakeholder trust is built on the cornerstone of sound corporate governance principles and these principles are critical to 
growing a reputation for the SABFS that is dedicated to excellence in performance and integrity. Corporate governance will 
facilitate fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency across the organisation. From a governance perspective, the 
overall intention of the SABFS is to ensure continuous performance improvement and adherence to all legislative requirements. 

The Board has approved a Board Governance Framework and other corporate governance processes which protect the SABFS, 
executives and employees in carrying out their duties and responsibilities and also instill stakeholder confidence. The Board 
of Directors is also assisted by the framework and processes to fulfil their fiduciary role towards the SABFS. The SABFS has 
been created in terms of the Sheriffs Act and is a public body which exercises public functions as set out in the Sheriffs Act and 
supporting legislation. The Board appreciates that corporate governance practices must be appropriate and relevant given the 
size, nature and complexity of the SABFS. 

Compliance with King III 

The Board has adopted the King III governance model and will comply with the principles therein. Where compliance is not 
possible due to the size and/or economic viability, an explanation will be provided indicating in accordance with the ‘comply or 
explain’ principle embodied in King III.

The Board and committees met throughout the year to carry out its mandate. Below is a table which sets out remuneration and 
disbursements paid to Board members for the period. 

BOARD & SUB COMMITTEE MEETINGS, REMUNERATION & DISBURSEMENTS

  Board Exec L&L
HR, T 
& C

FIN
Cons. 
Forum

CC FF
Audit 

& 
Risk

Other Total Remuneration Disbursements

C. Mabuza 5 8   1 1 1     1 10 27 71,933 61,344 

H. Mohamed* 5 8   4   1     1   19  N/A -   

P. Roodt 5 8 1   7  1 8 5 5 43 92,987 3,498 

T. Tembe 5 8 6   1 4 1     2 27 78,646 3,287 

N. Soga 5     5   1 3     2 16 48,544 501 

S. Skosana 2 1     1           4 14,956 564 

M. Magida 5 7 4 4   2     4 2 28 69,978 1,368 

M. Lephadi 5   6     1   4   3 19 54,959 6,554 

L. Fernandez 5   4 5           2 16 49,680 408 

L. Mashapa 5       6     3     14 2,978 441 

I. Klynsmith 4 8     1 1 6 8 4 4 36 63,458 27,426 

G. Cronje **                 5   5 35,023 -

254    583,142 105,390

* Adv H Mohamed is the Regional Head of the Department of the Justice and Constitutional Development in the Western Cape and, as a Government employee, is 
not eligible to claim meeting allowances.

**  Independent Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
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The top 9 risks facing the SABFS are listed below: 

Risk Management

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and to ensure that there is an appropriate framework, policy and process. The 
SABFS risk management system consist of a Risk Management Framework, a Risk Policy and a Terms of Reference for the Risk 
Management Committee. Together these contain the policies, strategies, processes, procedures and tools for identifying, measuring, 
monitoring, managing and reporting all material risks to which the SABFS is exposed. The Enterprise Wide Risk Management (ERM) 
Framework contains the key principles that guide the implementation of risk at all levels. It provided the risk architecture and shows 
how risk management should be embedded in all business units to ensure the effective risk management strategies are integrated in 
all work contexts. 

Risk Management is being made part of the culture of the SABFS and is embedded in daily practises and processes. There is a direct 
focus on the relationship between the risk and its impact of achieving the objectives set out in the SABFS strategy.

Our risk assessment cycle for the period under review consisted of 9 material risks that the SABFS may be exposed to.

Conflict of Interest

The SABFS recognises that in exercising their powers and functions, Board members or officials may become conflicted. There 
are proper structures in place for annual declarations of interest and all decision-making structures and official meetings provide 
for declaration of interest. Members who become conflicted do not part take in decision-making and other activities. 

Cybercrime Risk posed by 
unauthorised access to data including 
3rd party data stored

This risk was mitigated by: 

Section 35 (2) created a gap pending legislative 
amendment

Review of legal requirements for PI insurance 

Preparation of a bid to secure group insurance for the 
gap cover 

Non-compliance to laws and regulations

Loss of critical data due to inadequate 
backup

This risk was mitigated by: 

Overhaul of QMS and Records Management policies

Critical hardcopy data to be backed up on the system

Lack of readiness to implement new 
legislation governing unclaimed trust 
monies and payment of small claims 
execution cost

This risk was mitigated by: 

Strategic session to discuss implementation

Project plan, change management and capacity review 
scheduled

Draft the guidelines to be applicable when the new 
legislation is published

Exposure to claims due to gap cover in 
sheriffs PI insurance

This risk was mitigated by: 

Section 35 (2) created a gap pending legislative 
amendment

Review of legal requirements for PI insurance

Preparation of a bid to secure group insurance for the 
gap cover 

Loss or attrition of skilled staff due to 
inadequate performance reward

This risk was mitigated by: 

A review of the Performance and reward policy was done

Performance scorecards were aligned to the strategic 
objectives of the Board

Training on the new policy took place

Inadequate assurance provided by the 
inspectorate 

This risk was mitigated by: 

Introduction of desktop inspection

25% of sheriffs to annually undergo desktop inspections 
annually

Inspectorate beefed up with the requisite financial skills

Non-compliance to laws and 
regulations 

This risk was mitigated by: 

Identification of unfulfilled mandates- deputy sheriffs

Review and redesign non-compliant processes 

Implemented a compliance register

QMS was overhauled to align with best practices

Loss or unlawful disclosure of personal 
information to  unauthorised persons

This risk was mitigated by: 

POPI compliance policy

Staff training on POPI

Access to Information Manual and processes were reviewed

Monitoring of compliance to POPI

Supply chain delays hamper delivery

This risk was mitigated by: 

SCM training for staff and Board

SCM policy review scheduled in Year 2

Performance management of SCM function 
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NAME OF  
MEMBER

NO OF 
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED

Mr G Cronje 5 of 5

Mrs P Roodt 5 of 5

Mr I Klynsmith 4 of 5

Mr M Magida 4 of 5

3. AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE REPORT  
TO THE BOARD

The Audit Committee of the SABFS has 
been established as an independent 
committee of the Board in this financial 
year. The Committee is governed by a 
charter which contains its formal terms 
of reference.

The Committee hereby presents its first 
report which is for the financial year 
ended 29 February 2016. 

Audit Committee members 
and attendance

The Committee’s terms of reference 
requires a minimum of four independent 
members, and consists of the members 
listed below. During the period under 
review, three Audit Committee meetings 
and two special meetings were held.

The Auditor-General is invited to the 
Audit Committee meetings, but they have 
not attended any meetings for the period. 

Both Mrs Mabuza and Adv Mohamed 
are not members of the committee and 
are invited to attend as Chair and Deputy 
Chairperson of the Board, respectively.

Audit Committee 
responsibility 

The Committee reports that it has, 
as far as possible, complied with its 
responsibilities arising from its terms of 
reference, including relevant legislative 
requirements.

The Audit Committee has compiled an 
annual work plan that assists in carrying 
out its responsibilities. Quarterly 
reporting on the activities of the Audit 
Committee was presented to the Board. 

Review and evaluation of the Annual 
Financial Statement for the SABFS and 
Fidelity Fund

The Committee has:

• Reviewed and discussed the 
 Annual Financial Statements of  

 the SABFS and the Fidelity   
 Fund with the SNG Auditors   
 and management, which are to be   
 included in the Annual Report;

• Reviewed the Auditors  
 management letters and    
 management’s responses thereto;

• Reviewed and discussed the report  
 and audit opinion of the Auditor  
 with the Auditor and management;

• Reviewed changes in Accounting  
 policies and practices; and

• Reviewed the SABFS compliance  
 with legal and regulatory provisions.

The Committee is extremely pleased 
that the Auditor has issued an 
unqualified and clean audit opinion on 
both the SABFS and the Fidelity Fund 
financial statements, for the year ended 
29 February 2016. The Committee 
concurs and accepts the Auditor’s 
opinion regarding the Annual Financial 
Statements, and proposes that the 
statements be accepted and read 
together with the Auditor’s Report. 

The financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting practice, and in the 
manner required by the PFMA. 

Efficiency and effectiveness 
of internal control

The SABFS does not have an internal 
audit function, due to the size of the 
organisation and the lack of budget. 
The DOJCD was approached to assist 
with some internal assurance and the 
committee will explore this option in 
the new financial year in accordance 
with our Combined Assurance Plan.

Performance management

The Audit Committee oversees the 
performance reporting towards strategic 
objectives of the SABFS. The Committee 
has reviewed and given consideration to 
the performance reports as prepared by 
management and recommend same to 
the Board for approval. 

Risk management

The SABFS has introduced enterprise 
wide management risk in the period and 
the committee oversaw the activities 
of the SABFS Risk Management 
Committee.  In our view, SABFS has 
made good progress in embedding 
risk management processes in its 
operations and strategy. 

Governance

The Board has formally adopted 
the principles of the King lll report 
on corporate governance. The 
Committee continues to monitor key 
SABFS governance interventions. The 
Committee continues to review the 
development of the SABFS Combined 
Assurance Plan to ensure that all 
significant risks are addressed to the 
satisfaction of the Board. 

Conclusion

The Committee is very pleased with 
the progress made by the SABFS 
during the financial year, in all the 
areas outlined in this report.

The Committee wishes to express its 
appreciation to the management of 
SABFS and the external auditors, SNG 
Auditors, who enabled the Committee 
to perform its function as set out in the 
Audit Charter. 

 

Gregory Cronje
Independent Chairperson of the Audit 
and Risk Committee
30 June 2016



PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

Trust gives you the permission to give people 
direction, get everyone aligned, and give 
them the energy to go get the job done. 

Trust enables you to execute with excellence 
and produce extraordinary results. As you 

execute with excellence and deliver on 
your commitments, trust becomes easier to 
inspire, creating a flywheel of performance.

Douglas Conant

PART C
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2. OVERVIEW OF ORGANISATION’S PERFORMANCE 

2.1 Service delivery environment

Sheriffs are appointed by the Minister of Justice and Correctional 
Services until their retirement age of 65 years. Sheriffs are impartial 
officers of the law who perform their functions as set out in various 
pieces of legislation, including the Supreme Court Act and the 
Magistrate’s Court Act, along with the respective set of rules for each.

The SABFS encourages sheriffs to perform their duties in line with the 
Code of Conduct and Pledge for sheriffs and to uphold the dignity of 
those they serve.

The Board’s primary function is one of exercising oversight of the 
sheriffs’ profession: ensuring that their duties and responsibilities are 
completed in the prescribed manner, and dealing with complaints when 
this does not occur. At the heart of this function is the Board’s authority 
to issue or withhold the Fidelity Fund Certificate. In order for a sheriff to 
receive this document there are a number of conditions that have to be 
met, and without this document a sheriff is prohibited from operating.

Noting that the SABFS does not receive any grants from government 
and is totally reliant on the annual levies that it receives from sheriffs 
and the administrative fee it gets for managing the Fidelity Fund for 
sheriffs, it does remarkably well to promote and regulate the profession.

The SABFS also has a twofold responsibility in respect of regulating 
the sheriffs’ profession and managing a staff complement that provides 
it with an administrative function. Further to this, the Board interacts 
with various stakeholders to forge strategic partnerships to enhance 
and maintain its relevance in its statutory sphere. It participates in 
and contributes to a number of government-related initiatives as well 
as advancing the sheriffs’ profession by implementing developmental 
projects. 

1. STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY 

Statement of Responsibility for 
Performance Information of the 
year ended 29 February 2016

The Executive Manager is responsible for the 
preparation of the public entity’s performance 
information and for the judgements made in 
this information.

The Executive Manager is responsible for 
establishing and implementing a system of 
controls designed to provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of 
performance information.

In my opinion, the performance information 
fairly reflects the actual achievements against 
planned objectives, indicators and targets as 
per the strategic and annual performance 
plan of the SABFS for the financial year ended  
29 February 2016. 

The performance information of the SABFS is 
set out on page 18 to page 32 of Part C and 
was approved by the Board.

  

Sharon Snell  
(Executive Manager)
30 June 2016
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2.2 Key policy developments and legislative changes

Although the tariffs for sheriffs were increased by the Rules Board for Courts of Law, with effect from 23 January 2015, aspects 
thereof have not been defined and further guidance is necessary to alleviate differences between sheriffs and attorneys relating 
to fees charged – especially travel fees.   

POLICY DEVELOPMENTS AND LEGISLATIVE CHANGES DATE

Proposed Amendment to Uniform Rule 38 and Form 16: Subpoenas 27 March 2015

Proposed Repeal of Uniform Rule 4(9) service on the State Attorney 27 March 2015

Proposed repeal of Uniform Rule 36(8) Provision of a time period within which party 
causing an examination to be made must furnish the report. 

27 March 2015

Proposed extension of Dies Non to other proceedings including all forms of 
applications. 

14 May 2015

Invitation to submit comments on what should constitute after hours and urgent service 
by sheriffs for purposes of different tariffs.

13 August 2015

Mr Thaka Seboka appointed by the Minister as a representative from the sheriffs 
profession to the Cost Committee of the Rules Board.

7 October 2015

Sheriffs for Courts of Law – Baseline Tariffs 18 November 2015

Uniform Rule 68 (3)(a): Tariff for Sheriffs – Necessary expenditure for necessary work. 18 November 2015
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2.3 Strategic outcome oriented goals 

Below is qualitative information on the performance towards stated objectives.

PROGRAMME 1:  Compliance

The goal of this programme is to enforce compliance with the Sheriffs Act and subordinate legislation governing 
sheriffs. This is performed through regulating and promoting the standard of conduct of sheriffs and deputy sheriffs 
having due regard to the interest of the public. 

Disciplinary proceedings against sheriffs 
and deputy sheriffs 

The Board dealt with 2530 informal queries and complaints 
from stakeholders during the course of the year. The most 
common complaint was related to delays in the paying of trust 
monies or serving processes, as well as a slow response to 
correspondence. The high volume of such complaints may 
indicate poor administration and systems in sheriffs’ offices. 
Telephonic queries represent the highest volume of interaction 
with the public and a high percentage of matters are finalised 
through the intervention of the Queries Administrator at this 
early stage. 

A total of 207 formal affidavits of complaint were lodged 
against sheriffs and 143 were closed/resolved as at year end. 
This represents a closure rate of 69%. Common areas of 
complaints relate to the theft of trust monies; delay in payment 
of trust monies, delay in serving processes or in responding to 
correspondence. 

The majority of complaints such as these are resolved within 
a very short period of time. Complaints that are not closed are 
actioned through disciplinary inquiry proceedings. Below is 
a provincial breakdown of complaints. Gauteng and Eastern 
Cape generate the highest number of complaints

Disciplinary Hearings

The SABFS completed three disciplinary hearings. The outcome was that two out of three sheriffs were found guilty of improper 
conduct and one was found not guilty. 

No. SHERIFF & JURISDICTION DATE OUTCOME

1 Mrs T. Mabandla – Kwa-Bacha 
HL & Mount Frere HL

2 December 2015 Sheriff found guilty on all charges. An appeal 
against the Section 18(3) Chairperson’s findings 
has been lodged. 

2 Mr L.L.G. Balfour – 
Butterworth HL & Centane HL

14 September 2015 The sheriff was found guilty and an appeal was 
lodged

3 Mr D. Burger – Strand HL 25 January 2016 Sheriff found not guilty on all charges.

11%

8%

24%
17%

2%

7%

25%

5%

1%

% OF TOTAL COMPLAINTS per Province
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Inspections

This division has a mandate to 
investigate and combat fraud 
in sheriffs’ offices as a result of 
misrepresentations, misappropriation 
of funds, non-compliance to laws, 
policies and procedures that govern 
the sheriffs’ profession.

Inspections guard the image of 
the sheriffs’ profession and most 
importantly that of the public. It 
provides independent, objective and 
discrete assurances designed to 
add value and improve the SABFS’s 
operations.  It helps achieve its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to evaluate 
and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control, and governance 
processes.

The SABFS conducted 17 on-site 
inspections in terms of the Sheriffs 
Act at sheriffs’ offices. Unfortunately 
due to financial constraints, the Board 
primarily conducts inspections when 
there is a complaint against the sheriff. 

Inspections are key to effective risk 
management of the trust monies held 
by sheriffs. Inspectors not only inspect 
the documents relating to a complaint, 
but also the trust account records of the 
sheriff in order to ensure that principles 
of good trust account management are 

adhered to. The need for training and 
mentorship often surfaces through the 
process of inspections and it can thus 
be seen as an important barometer of 
the levels of efficient management of 
sheriffs’ offices.

Compliance with legal 
obligations

The sheriffs are required to comply with 
legal obligations annually. These consist 
of: 

Phase 1 Legal Obligations

Sheriffs have to submit the audit report 
on their trust account and pay over 
interest earned as well as their levy 
payments.

Phase 2 Legal Obligations

Sheriffs have to apply and pay for 
Fidelity Fund Certificates and provide 
proof of PI cover.

Non-compliant offices are regarded as 
high risk offices, especially where the 
audit of the trust account is outstanding 
or the sheriff does not have a Fidelity 
Fund Certificate or PI insurance. In order 
to improve behaviour, non-compliance 
is monitored and sheriffs receive various 
reminders to comply throughout the 
submission period. This has resulted 
in a decrease in the number of sheriffs 
who were not issued with a Fidelity Fund 

Certificate. The Board issued FFC to 
99% of sheriffs and did not provide an 
FFC to 3 (three) sheriffs in 2016, due to 
various ongoing compliance breaches. 

As sheriffs cannot practise without a 
valid FFC, stakeholders are informed 
and the Board takes the necessary 
steps to ensure that the public and the 
legal process are not compromised by 
dealing with them. 

Technical charges

A total of 48 sheriffs were charged with 
improper conduct for failure to submit 
their trust audit report. As at the end 
of December 2015, compliance had 
increased and 99% of sheriffs had 
submitted their trust audit report. 
43.75% of the sheriffs pleaded guilty 
and paid fines amounting to R154k.  

Registration of sheriffs and 
deputy sheriffs

As at the end of the financial year, 
the SABFS had issued Fidelity 
Fund Certificates to 285 sheriffs 
and registered 767 deputy sheriffs. 
From the table below we can see 
that there has been an improvement 
in the demographic of sheriffs with 
the increased appointments of more 
women, black sheriffs and deputy 
sheriffs.

SHERIFFS AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2016
  Gender Race

Province Total Male Female White African Indian Coloured

Eastern Cape 48 33 15 11 33 0 4

Free State 28 23 5 17 9 0 2

Gauteng 40 27 13 18 12 7 3

Kwa-Zulu Natal 36 26 10 10 14 10 2

Limpopo 25 20 5 8 17 0 0

Mpumalanga 24 18 6 14 10 0 0

North West 22 16 6 10 9 1 2

Northern Cape 16 13 3 11 1 1 3

Western Cape 46 34 12 18 6 3 19

Total 285 210 75 117 111 22 35

Percentage 100% 81% 19% 47% 35% 7% 11%

Between 31 January 2016 and 29 February 2016:  One African male from Free State was suspended. 
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DEPUTY SHERIFFS AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2016

    Gender Race

 Province Total Male Female White African Indian Coloured

Eastern Cape 74 56 18 26 37 0 11

Free State 56 50 6 33 22 0 1

Gauteng 221 184 37 129 75 13 4

Kwa-Zulu Natal 101 80 21 28 34 37 2

Limpopo 50 43 7 21 29 0 0

Mpumalanga 52 39 13 31 21 0 0

North West 53 42 11 17 33 2 1

Northern Cape 26 19 7 15 2 0 9

Western Cape 134 112 22 63 16 1 54

Total 767 625 142 363 269 53 82

Percentage 100% 81% 19% 47% 35% 7% 11%

PROGRAMME 1: COMPLIANCE 

GOAL
TO ENFORCE COMPLIANCE WITH THE SHERIFFS ACT AND SUBORDINATE 
LEGISLATION GOVERNING SHERIFFS 

This is 
performed 
through: 

• Regulating and promoting the standard of conduct of sheriffs and deputy sheriffs having 
due regard to the interest of the public

• Issuing Fidelity Fund Certificates to sheriffs, including  ad hoc and acting appointments

• Registration of deputy sheriffs

• Investigating complaints and instituting disciplinary proceedings against sheriffs and 
deputy sheriffs where required 

Processes used 
to meet these 
objectives

• New registration and renewal processes

• Consumer complaints 

• Technical non-compliance related charges

• Disciplinary proceedings

• Inspections
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PROGRAMME 2:  Fidelity Fund

The goal of this programme is to increase the financial performance of the Fidelity Fund through effective management thereof. 
The Board has appointed a Fidelity Fund Committee to oversee the activities of the Fund. 

The Fidelity Fund is established in terms of Section 26 of the Sheriffs Act and its primary function is to be used to compensate 
those who have suffered any prejudice as a result of misconduct or omissions by a sheriff. The monies accrued in the Fund are 
housed in various investments, the capital is guaranteed with interest reinvested into the Fund. Interest earned by sheriffs on 
their respective trust accounts is forwarded to the SABFS as a contribution to the Fidelity Fund.  

Claims against the Fidelity Fund

The Board has arranged indemnity insurance for the fund which covers claims that are larger than R350 000. 

Below is a table showing claims paid for the financial year.

CLAIMS PAID IN 2015/16

File no Claimant Sheriff Amount R

F260 Lewis Coetzee SAG Bailey Strauss: Wellington 2 000.00

F326 Hack, Stuppel and Ross Attorneys Kgosana: Lebowakgomo 275 573.93

F335 MC Rathlelele Attorneys Sheriff Ritavi: N Kgatla 30 000.00

F332 Weavind and Weavind Kgosana: Lebowakgomo/ Thabamoopoo 227 000.00

Case No. 
12374/08

Erf 5112/ABSA Bank/Smit Sewgoolam Inc. Sheriff Mogane: Kemptonpark North 25 100.00

559 673.93

Our premiums for insurance did not increase for 2016 due to prudent management of our risks. All claims received against the Fidelity 
Fund are thoroughly investigated before payment is made. The Board received 12 claims during the period and paid out six claims 
to the value of R 559 673.

The next table indicates the claims history for the period 2012 to 2016. Of the R 9.96 million claims paid over the four year period, 
75% were paid directly from the fund (self-insurance) and and 25% was paid by the insurers of the Fidelity Fund. Claimants who have 
been approved to be paid, are required to cede their claims to the SABFS. The SABFS has not recovered any money from civil action 
taken as a result of these cessions.
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CLAIMS PROCESSED FROM 2012 TO 2016

Year 
lodged

No of 
claims 
received 

Total value of new 
claims received in 
the year

Cumulative total 
value claims still 
pending 

Cumulative total 
value claims 
approved but not 
paid 

Total claims paid 
during the period

Total claims rejected 
during the period

2012/13 9 R 490,073.93 R 12,833,023.99 R 0.00 R 1,142,527.29 R 0.00

2013/14 18 R 7,358,148.16 R 7,654,490.00 R 932,082.16 R 6,398,892.34 R 6,137,788.95

2014/15 23 R 3,274,821.42 R 5,479,591.93 R 641,422.16 R 1,859,169.49 R 3,590,550.00

2015/16 13 R 3,487,330.58 R 8,668,136.33 R 1,553,700.68 R 559,673.93 R 1,515,471.00

TOTALS 63 R 14,610,374.09 n/a n/a R 9,960,263.05 R 11,243,809.95

PROGRAMME 2: FIDELITY FUND

GOAL 
TO INCREASE THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE FIDELITY FUND THROUGH 
EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT THEREOF

This is 
performed 
through: 

• Investigating claims received against the Fidelity Fund and making payments of successful 
claims

• Recovery of claims paid using the civil and criminal justice processes

• Receiving interest on trust funds and ensuring completeness of revenue

• Management of the fidelity fund’s investments  

Processes used 
to meet these 
objectives

• Processing of claims and making payments 

• Recoveries of claims paid 

• Collection of interest on trust accounts of sheriffs 

• Investment of fidelity fund monies

• Insurance and reinsurance to manage fund risk



26  South African Board for Sheriffs Annual Report 2016

PROGRAMME 3:  Financial Stability of the sheriffs’ profession

The goal of this programme is to improve the financial sustainability of the sheriffs’ profession. 

Financial sustainability

The South African Board for Sheriffs derives its income predominantly from the 1.5% levy paid by sheriffs and 8.5% administration 
fee from the Fidelity Fund, smaller amounts accrue from fines to sheriffs.

All income received by the SABFS is invested as prescribed by the Sheriffs Act. Alternatively, the Minister of Justice and 
Correctional Services would be consulted to approve any deviation.  

The Board investigates and combats fraud in sheriffs’ offices as a result of misrepresentations, misappropriation of funds, non-
compliance to laws, policies and procedures that govern the sheriffs’ profession. It helps to achieve its objectives by bringing 
a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance 
processes.

Consultative Forum

Comprising members from the two sheriffs’ associations, members of the Board, stakeholders from a broad range of sectors, 
and assisted by management of the Board, the Consultative Forum is a platform where a wide range of issues affecting sheriffs 
are discussed. 

The scope of the Forum includes:

• To consult and advise on legislative and policy matters proposed by the Board, the two sheriffs’ organisations and any other 
interested body;

• To ensure the inputs of the sheriffs’ profession are discussed and debated;

• To consider input on transformation within the profession;

• To consult and engage on any matter affecting the profession; and

• To forward the Forum’s recommendations to the Board for consideration.

Matters dealt with for the financial year included the following:

• Tax clearance certificates for sheriffs;

• Demarcation of sheriffs’ service areas;

• Code of Conduct for deputy sheriffs and staff of the sheriffs’ profession;

• Brand guide to standardise the use of a logo for the profession;

• Sheriffs’ commission when immovable property is sold in execution;

• PI Insurance;

• Emolument Attachment Orders;

• Guidelines for sheriffs for urgent service of court processes in respect of claims which might prescribe;

• Municipal Systems Act;

• Sheriffs’ tariffs;

• Department of Labour;

• Legal Aid South Africa;

• SARS: VAT on proceeds from Sales in Execution;

• Labour Court;

• Rental Housing Amendment Bill; and

• Funding of Voluntary Associations.
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On the 28th of August 2015, SARS met with stakeholders of the sheriffs’ profession at the Consultative Forum meeting in 
Johannesburg. SARS presented information on taxpayer education and then the particular challenges of the sheriffs’ profession 
with SARS were explored. These included, inter alia, the payment of VAT on income from sales in execution, registration as a VAT 
vendor, and payments due to the sheriffs, from SARS.

Since SARS is in a position to offer taxpayer education nationwide, SABFS invited them to address sheriffs at our nine provincial 
needs based training sessions between September and November 2015.

The SABFS agreed in principle that SARS and the South African Board for Sheriffs would enter into an MOU in order to better 
serve sheriffs.

RCC Meetings 

At provincial level, each RCC (Regional Coordinating Committee) is managed by the Regional Head of Justice and administered 
by their office. Members of the RCC in each province would include stakeholders such as Magistrates, Court Managers, SALGA, 
COGTA, Attorneys, SABFS, Sheriffs, SAPS, and the Judge President. 

Sheriffs were informed that if a portion of their current area is excised and added to an adjacent service area, the current serving 
sheriff will be given the option to continue to serve the area and charge travel fees from the adjacent service area court. If they no 
longer wish to serve the area they were requested to relinquish the excised area to the neighbouring sheriff by signing a map and 
point-to-point description of the new demarcated service area they agree to serve. This arrangement will mean that the impacted 
sheriff will have to be re-appointed by the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services, to the area/s he or she has agreed to 
serve. The sheriff will therefore need to be re-issued with corresponding Fidelity Fund Certificates, by the SABFS. The RCC 
process demands that the sheriff jurisdictions are discussed at the end of the demarcation – once justice cluster stakeholders 
and in particular SAPS have agreed on specific demarcations. 

PROGRAMME 3: FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY OF THE SHERIFFS’ PROFESSION

GOAL TO IMPROVE THE FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY OF THE SHERIFFS PROFESSION

This is performed 
through: 

• Strategic and Financial Management to ensure that the Board and industry are a going 
concern and there is financial sustainability

• Stakeholder consultation through the Consultative Forum to ensure that the Board is 
guided on the matters that affect sheriffs

• Advocacy and lobbying work conducted on behalf of the sheriffs profession

Processes used 
to meet these 
objectives

• Processing of claims and making payments 

• Recoveries of claims paid 

• Collection of interest on trust accounts of sheriffs 

• Investment of fidelity fund monies

• Insurance and reinsurance to manage fund risk
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PROGRAMME 4:  Enhancing the sheriffs profession

The goal of this programme is to build capacity and professionalise the sheriffs’ profession.

Sheriffs’ Guide: Practice 
and Procedure – Updates

The First Revision Service of the 
South African Sheriffs’ Guide: 
Practice and Procedure has been 
completed. At a meeting with JUTA 
on 8 February 2016, the First Revision 
Service was handed over to JUTA for 
final publication. All editorial work 
had been completed. 

The Original Service contained the 
law up to 31 August 2014. The First 
Revision Service contains the law up 
to 30 November 2015.

The First Revision Service:

(a) Updates chapters 1 to 5 of the  
 original service by incorporating  
 the 2015 amendments to the  
 Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986 and the  
 Regulations thereto, as amended.

(b) Introduces 4 new chapters:  
 Chapter 10: Execution   
 Proceedings in terms of the  
 State Liability Act 20 of 1957,  
 Chapter 11: Insolvency;  
 Chapter 12: Small Claims  
 Courts; and Chapter 13: Costs.  
 Four new precedents originating  
 from the State Liability Act have  
 been attached to Annexure 2. In  
 addition, the Sheriffs Act 90 of 
 1986 and the Regulations  
 thereto have been updated in  
 Annexure 1 and the State  
 Liability Act 20 of 1957 has also  
 been appended to Annexure 1.

(c) A table of abbreviations has  
 been attached to the preliminary  
 pages; the contents pages have  
 been revised; and the index has  
 been revisited. 

As regards the four new chapters, 
each of them has been thoroughly 

researched as is evident from the 
abundant reference sources. They 
have also been deliberated upon and 
approved by the Reference Group. By 
way of indication of the level of care 
that was taken to verify information, 
it has to be noted that Chapter 13, 
for example, has over 900 footnotes 
alone. The other chapters, too, have 
been extensively referenced. The total 
page count of the first revision service 
is 360 pages.

Radio Adverts 2015/2016  

Radio adverts were broadcast as part 
of our Public Education and Create 
Awareness strategic objectives.

The SABFS has a generic radio advert 
which explains the role and duties of 
the sheriff. This advert was broadcast 
mainly during the month of June in 
anticipation of World Sheriffs’ Day, 
which takes place during the second 
week of June every year. 

These radio adverts were broadcast 
and interviews were conducted 
with various Board Members on the 
following community radio stations 
from 4 to 7 June 2015:

• Bush Radio - Western Cape

• Radio Teemaneng - Northern Cape

• Shine FM - Kwazulu- Natal

• Mix Radio - Gauteng

• Radio Bushbuckridge - Mpumalanga

• Radio Univen - Limpopo

• Motheo FM - Free State

• Nkqubela Radio - Eastern Cape

As part of educating the nation 
about the role of sheriffs, the SABFS 
collaborated with GCIS to dedicate 
an episode to sheriffs on 1 October 
2015.  The interview was conducted 

at the GCIS studio in Pretoria and 
linked to 65 community radio stations 
nationally.

The issues discussed were:

• The duties of the sheriff.

• The role of the South African 
Board for Sheriffs.

• The sheriff as an impartial and 
independent official of the 
Court appointed by the Minister 
of DoJCD who must serve or 
execute all documents issued 
by our courts. These include 
summonses, notices, warrants 
and court orders.

The SABFS further produced a voice- 
clip advert for a radio broadcast to 
educate the public with regards to 
the role of the sheriff in respect of 
evictions. The advert was produced 
in four different languages, namely 
English, Sotho, Xhosa and Zulu. The 
different versions are between 30 to 
40 seconds long.

This advert was broadcast in February 
2016. The target audience was all 
adults of 15 years and older. 

The advert was broadcast on the 
following radio stations:

• Lesedi FM

• Ukhozi FM

• UmhloboWenene FM.

SABFS reached a total audience of 
18 382 000.

World Sheriffs Day -  
4 June 2015

The South African Board for Sheriffs 
celebrated the 8th World Sheriffs Day 
on 4 June 2015. All sheriffs were 



29 South African Board for Sheriffs Annual Report 2016

notified of the day and informed of the 
theme for this year, “The Sheriff, link 
between the law and economy - A new 
approach to enforcement.”

The SABFS goals were:

• To create awareness surrounding   
World Sheriffs Day. 

• To promote the World Sheriffs   
Day theme of “The Sheriff, link   
between the law and economy -   
A new approach to enforcement.”

• To educate the public about the   
role of the sheriff and the Board.

Radio adverts were broadcast and 
interviews were conducted with 
various Board members on the 
following community radio stations: 

• Bush Radio - Western Cape

• Radio Teemaneng - Northern Cape

• Shine FM - Kwazulu-Natal

• Mix Radio - Gauteng

• Radio Bushbuckridge - Mpumalanga

• Radio Univen - Limpopo

• Motheo FM - Free State

• Nkqubela Radio - Eastern Cape

Sheriffs were encouraged to participate 
in their respective cities/towns by 
doing outreach work within their 
communities.  The sheriffs distributed 
pamphlets to the communities and 
public at the various venues where 
they celebrated World Sheriffs Day. 
They also took the time to explain the 
role and function of the sheriff.

Strandfontein Service 
Delivery Imbizo -  
19 March 2015

As part of the Human Rights month 
celebrations, the SABFS participated 
in a service delivery Imbizo hosted 
by the Department of Justice and 
Constitutional Development. The event 
was held at the Strandfontein Secondary 
School Hall on 19 March 2015. 

Legal Aid South Africa, the South 
African Human Rights Commission, the 
National Prosecuting Authority, South 
African Police Services, Department of 
Correctional Services (DCS), Masters 
Office, Family Advocate and the local 
sheriffs of Mitchells Plain were also 
participants at the event. 

DoJCD Africa Day Imbizo - 
Zwelethemba, Worcester 
25 May 2015

The DoJCD invited the SABFS to 
participate in the Africa Day Imbizo 
on 25 May 2015 in Zwelethemba, 
Worcester in the Western Cape. The 
event was to educate and create 
awareness around xenophobia and 
also to discuss improved service 
delivery to the community of 
Zwelethemba. Various stakeholders 
were in attendance; the South African 
Human Rights Association (SAHRA), 
Department of Correctional Services 
(DCS), South African Police Services 
(SAPS), Legal Aid SA, DoJCD and the 
SABFS.

Mandela Day 

International Mandela Day is 
celebrated on 18 July every year. 
The objective of Mandela Day is to 
inspire individuals to help change 
the world for the better. Ultimately 
it seeks to inspire communities 
everywhere. Madiba followed three 
rules throughout his life, which he did 
at great personal sacrifice: 

1. Free yourself 

2. Free others

3. Serve every day

In an effort to commemorate this great 
man, show our support to Mandela 
Day and serve our communities, the 
SABFS participated in the “Habitat 
for Humanity Build” on 17 July 2015. 
SABFS staff also purchased food 
voucher booklets which were donated 
to homeless persons in an effort to 
further celebrate Mandela Day and 
the “67 minutes Global movement for 
good”.

Women’s Month Imbizos

As part of the Women’s month 
celebrations, the SABFS participated 
in various service delivery Imbizos 
hosted by the Department of Justice 
and Constitutional Development.

The Imbizos were held to create 
awareness around the rights of 
women and to educate the women 
in the communities about their rights 
and the services at their disposal.  

Cape Town East Sheriff, Nelson Ntsibantu and his staff spending World Sheriffs 
Day at the Somerset Hospital children’s ward donating toys and gift bags.

The sheriff of Kuilsriver celebrated World Sheriffs Day by donating stationery  
supplies and party packets to the students at St Pauls Primary School.
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Rock Girl Safe Spaces 
Bench – Bredasdorp 11 
August 2015

Rock Girl, in partnership with 
the Department of Justice and 
Constitutional Development (DOJCD) 
and the South African Board for 
Sheriffs (SABFS), unveiled a Rock 
Girl Safe Spaces bench in memory of 
17 year old Anene Booysen, five year 
old Kayde Williams, and 14 year old 
Elda Jafta. 

Rock Girl is a grassroots campaign 
that creates safe spaces for girls and 
women. The bench is located in front 
of the Bredasdorp Magistrates Court 
and was unveiled on Tuesday 11 
August 2015.

The installation of the bench is part 
of an ongoing collaboration between 
Rock Girl and the Department 
of Justice and Constitutional 
Development to find lasting solutions 
to the pervasive violence facing girls 
and women across South Africa. The 
SABFS donated R20  000 towards 
the installation of the Rock Girl Safe 
Spaces bench. 

Other Outreach Activities 
Attended by the SABFS

• DoJCD service delivery imbizo 
in Calitzdorp - 14 August 2015

• DoJCD service delivery imbizo 
Saldanha - 18 August 2015 

• Launch of the Thuthuzela Care 
Centre and resuscitation and 
opening of the new Sexual 
Offences Court in Atlantis –  
5 November 2015.

TRAINING OF SHERIFFS 
AND DEPUTY SHERIFFS

SABFS Training Strategy 
and Policy

The SABFS recognises that training 
is essential to providing a high quality 

service which meets the needs and 
expectations of stakeholders and 
members of the public. The policy 
and training strategy will also enable 
sheriffs to acquire the competencies, 
knowledge and related qualifications 
to develop their own potential as 
well as the potential of their staff. 
The Education, Training and Skills 
Development policy is inextricably 
linked to meeting the strategic goals 
of the SABFS, however, it should be 
noted that the focus of this document 
is to build the capability of the sheriffs.

Further to the strategy, a draft 
training policy and CPD model was 
developed. The HR and Training 
Committee members have approved 
the working document and it was 
escalated to Board level.

The SABFS and PwC made the 
following recommendations, which 
form the basis of the policy.

• Implement a clear policy 
that specifies the Sheriffs 
Introductory Course (SIC) 
as a mandatory requirement 
for sheriffs and extend the 
SIC curriculum to include a 
soft skills component. This 
component will address the 
behavioural requirements of the 
sheriff’s function.  

• Implement a CPD programme 
that targets sheriffs and 
deputies. 

• Introduce role-specific training 
curriculums and Personal 
Development Plans. 

• Develop a training calendar 
and make it available to all 
practitioners well in advance 
on the Learner Management 
System (LMS). 

• Use a blended learning 
approach with a focus on self-
study methods. 

• Build a dedicated training team 
structure with competent, 
suitably qualified and 
experienced facilitators. 

• Extend the network of training 
venues to make face-to-face 
training more accessible. 

• Implement an online Learner 
Management System. 

• Partner with similar sectors to 
provide qualified future sheriffs 
to the profession.

WSP, ATR and SSP

The SABFS submits its WSP and 
ATR to the SASSETA each year. 
Conforming to this criteria allows the 
Board to apply for Discretionary Grant 
Funding for training, during specified 
funding windows as determined by 
the Seta.

Submitting a SSP to the SASSETA 
each year provides for the identified 
needs of the sheriffs’ profession to be 
tabled and considered for inclusion in 
the list of projects that are advertised 
during funding windows.

Needs Based Training 2015

Continuous annual training is 
essential as it offers greater 
confidence in discharging 
responsibilities, resilience, and 
the development of personal and 
interpersonal skills. 

Based on a representative-tested 
sample of the evaluations, the results 
indicated that training sessions 
were highly successful. Overall, the 
analysis indicates that learners rated 
the NBT course as 98% successful. 
Only 2% rated the presentations 
at an average level. A total of 375 
attendance certificates were posted 
to participants who attended the NBT 
workshops. 

Sheriff’s Introductory 
Course 2016

Although the main function of the 
Sheriff’s Introductory Course is to 
induct all newly appointed sheriffs, 
SABFS also uses the platform to 
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prepare deputy sheriffs for future 
available posts.  

The Skills Programme (Sheriffs 
Introductory Course – SIC ID 57712), 
at NQF Level 4, can be used to 
contribute to the further development 
of the current employee within the 
sheriffs’ profession by providing 
recognition, further mobility and 
transportability. 

Statistics

• 31 Learners attended the 
classroom and assessment 
sessions.

• Of the 31 learners, there had 13 
males and 18 females.

• 19 deputy sheriffs attended 
while only 12 of the appointed 
sheriffs were obligated to 
complete the course. The rest 
of the new appointees were 
exempted from training due 
to their past experience in the 
sheriffs’ profession.

The race groups presented the 
following numbers. 

• 4 Coloured, 

• 6 White; and 

• 21 Black learners. 

The learners reside as follows:

Eastern Cape 3

Free State 4

Gauteng 11

KwaZulu Natal 1

Limpopo 4

Mpumulanga 0

Northern Cape 3

North West 5

Western Cape 0

The Board applied to the SASSETA 
for funding, but was unsuccessful. 
Since the SASSETA did not fund 

the skills course, the Board spent R 
330  000 to implement the training 
programme.

Learner Management 
System

The SABFS, together with 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers [PwC], 
conducted a skills assessment with 
a sample group of mostly sheriffs 
and deputy sheriffs around the 
country, to understand the current 
levels of skills, competencies, 
and qualifications that exist within 
the profession. The information 
gathered through an online 
questionnaire and group interview 
sessions, together with desktop 
research, formed the basis for 
the development of an E-learning 
platform to support a CPD model, 
embedded in an LMS. 

PROGRAMME 4: ENHANCING THE SHERIFFS PROFESSION

GOAL TO BUILD CAPACITY AND PROFESSIONALISE THE SHERIFFS PROFESSION

This is performed 
through: 

• Increasing stakeholder awareness of the role of the sheriff

• Training of sheriffs and deputy sheriffs

• Advocacy and lobbying work conducted on behalf of the sheriffs profession 

• Public Relations and Marketing activities

Processes used 
to meet these 
objectives

• Skills Development Research and Planning for the sheriffs profession

• Implementing training and development initiatives for sheriffs and deputy sheriffs

• Identifying gaps in knowledge and supporting sheriffs through mentoring and coaching 
initiatives

• Marketing activities conducted to enhance the reputation of the sheriffs profession and 
the Board

• Legal and Liaison committee functions 

• Consultative Forum processes

• Engagement with key stakeholders and MOUs 

• Use of legal consultants for legal opinions and position papers
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PROGRAMME 5:  Governance & Corporate Support Services

The goal of this programme is to improve compliance with legal requirements and good governance principles to 
increase stakeholder trust.

The Board established an Audit and Risk committee with an independent chairperson.   This committee was fully 
functional for the year under review.

 

PROGRAMME 5: GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE SUPPORT SERVICES

GOAL 
TO IMPROVE COMPLIANCE WITH LEGAL REQUIREMENTS AND GOOD 
GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES TO INCREASE STAKEHOLDER TRUST

This is performed 
through: 

• Governance activities of the Board and Committees of the SABFS

• Managing the human capital resources and performance to deliver effectively on 
the SABFS mandate

• Effective and efficient financial management and procurement processes

• Implementing a Quality Management System and practices

• Using Information Technology to support operational processes

• Enterprise Wide Risk Management at the SABFS

• Provision of internal and external assurance to the Board

Processes used 
to meet these 
objectives

• Corporate Governance processes

• Quality Management Processes

• Risk Management processes

• Human Resource Management processes

• Financial Management and Procurement processes

• Information Technology Management processes

• Internal and External Assurance Processes
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India Baird, Rock Girl Founder addressing the crowd at the unveiling of the Rock Girl 
Safe Spaces bench in Bredasdorp

Guests at the launch of the new Sheriffs’ Guide held at the SABFS offices in Cape
Town. L-R: Mr A Makwetu, Deputy Minister, Mr J Jeffery, Mrs C Mabuza and  

Mr P Maluleke.

Advocate Kleinhans of the DoJCD at a service delivery Imbizo 
in Saldanha

SABFS participated in a Women’s Month service delivery Imbizo in Calitzdorp

Adv H Mohamed & Mrs Snell unveiling the Safe Spaces bench at the  
Magistrates Court in Bredasdorp



Chairperson of the SABFS, Mrs Charmaine Mabuza

Launch of the new Sheriffs’ Guide: Professor Paleker, author of the  
Sheriffs’ Guide, Deputy Minister of Justice & Constitutional Development,  

the Hon JH Jeffery, MP and Chairperson of the SABFS, Mrs C Mabuza

Ex-Board member and sheriff for Pretoria Central, Mr Thaka Seboka and the Chairperson of the Board,  
Mrs Charmaine Mabuza, being interviewed for the “Lets Talk Justice” radio campaign

L-R: Sharon Snell, Executive Manager of the SABFS; Fahemah Mohamed of the SABFS and
Michiel Basson, Sheriff for Malmesbury

Africa Day Imbizo held in WorcesterAttendees listening to an address at the Bredasdorp Magistrates Court

Community members at the Africa Day Imbizo held in Worcester

NBT learners attending training in KZN



HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENTPART D
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Human Resource Oversight Statistics 

The office operates as four divisions, each with a clear line of authority and reporting. They in turn support the Board, which has 
established six committees to carry out its functions. 

The Board’s day-to-day functions are carried out by a dedicated team of professionals under the guidance of an Executive 
Manager. 

STAFF COMPLEMENT 

 
Management Staff

Total
Male Female Male Female

African 1 0 1 6 8

Coloured 2 1 2 8 13

Indian 0 0 0 0 0

White 0 1 0 1 2

Total 3 2 3 15 23

At the June 2015 meeting, the Board approved that the position of the Legal Administrator, Fidelity Fund Administrator, the Mail 
and Filing Clerk and Vehicle Driver and Controller, be added into the permanent structure of the organisation. The Board also 
approved that the position of the PA be upgraded to Executive PA. 

Staff Movement

The table below reflects staff movement over the period. 

RESIGNATIONS

Number Staff Position

1 Lubabalo Mdekazi Training Officer 

2 Lindiwe Mtunzi GM: Legal and Complaints 

3 Zainab Abrahams Communications Officer 

4 Sykie Mongwe Fidelity Fund Administrator 

5 Schalk Nowers Inspector 

RETIREMENTS

1 Elizabeth Miller Receptionist

APPOINTMENTS

1 Sharon Snell Executive Manager

2 Vanessa Botha GM: Legal and Complaints 

3 Vernon Weitz Training Officer

4 Sykie Mongwe Fidelity Fund Administrator 

5 Clement Heugh Driver
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Work Integrated Learning 

The Public Sector Education and Training Authority (PSETA) approved and granted the Board funding for Work Integrated 
Learning only. The funding is for four (4) learners at R36 000.00 per learner which equals to total funding of R144 000.00, for 
a period of up to 18 months.

Building the capacity of SABFS staff: 
Continuous Professional Development and Personal Development Plans

Towards the end of 2015 and the beginning of 2016, educational sessions were held for the staff at the office of the Board, which 
forms part of the organisational development strategic plan. This is also part of the objectives of the SABFS to build the capability 
and continuous professional development of personnel. Three themes were covered, namely;

• Time and Stress Management; 

• Needs Based Training [NBT]; and 

• Risk Management. 

An assessment was also done in respect of the individual requirements and educational advancement of staff at the office of the 
Board during September of 2015. This annual assessment allows the Board the opportunity to ensure that its staff complement 
is upskilled in line with the Board’s expectations.

STAFF ANNUAL TRAINING REPORT

COURSE INSTITUTION COST

Bachelor of Law (LLB) UNISA  4 140.00

Project Management UNISA  5 100.00

Higher Certificate Forensics and Investigation Audit UNISA  6 000.00

Office Administration UNISA  3 3599.00

HR Management Short Course UCT  12 900.00

Certificate in Project Management UNISA  5 100.00

Skills Module Training SAGE VIP  2 394.73

Measuring Results Training Workshop ALPHA-Buss-Solution  7 999.00

Annual Tax Update Seminar SAICA  0.00

2016: Tax Specialist Seminar SAICA 2 937.00

Needs Based Training In-house

Risk Management In-house 0.00

Time and Stress Management Fast Track 17 841.55

Paralegal SA Law School 21 832.98

 89 604.26
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HR Policy Review

Certain sections of the policy, including the performance management policy, were reviewed and adopted by the Board during 
the meeting held in November 2015. 

Employee Costs

The employee costs for the current year was R7.84 million compared to R7.77 million in the previous year. Employee costs 
increased by 1% on a year-on-year basis.  Cost savings were experienced due to resignations and the fact that vacant positions 
were only filled in the second half of the financial year. The Board approved a 6% salary increase for its entire staff complement 
for the financial year. 

Medical Aid Scheme  

The current medical aid service provider, Discovery Life, was approved by the Board and they commenced in February 2015. The 
previous service provider (Cape Medical Plan) was appointed in January 2014. 

Retirement Fund 

The Pension Fund of the organisation is administered by the Sanlam Umbrella Fund and the brokers are Seed Benefit Consulting. 
It has been doing very well as the return on investment for 2014 to 2015 was 15.90%. A presentation was arranged during 
December 2015. 

Occupational Health and Safety

The OHS Committee was established in 2015. Although various aspects of its functions have been identified, the OHS Committee 
remained fairly inactive during the financial year. 

The Deputy Chairperson of the Board, Adv H Mohamed and the Executive Manager, Sharon Snell with staff of the SABFS



FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Money is always eager and ready to work for 
anyone who is ready to employ it.

Idowu Koyenikan

PART E
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The Board is required by the Sheriffs 
Act 90 of 1986, to maintain adequate 
accounting records and is responsible 
for the content and integrity of the annual 
financial statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is 
the responsibility of the Board to ensure 
that the annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the 
entity as at the end of the financial year 
and the results of its operations and 
cash flows for the period then ended. 
The external auditors are engaged to 
express an independent opinion on the 
annual financial statements and were 
given unrestricted access to all financial 
records and related data.

The annual financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with 
Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including 
any interpretations, guidelines and 
directives issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are 
based upon appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgements and estimates. The Board 
acknowledges that it is ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal 
financial control established by 
the entity and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the 
Board to meet these responsibilities, the 
Board sets standards for internal control 
aimed at reducing the risk of error or 
deficit in a cost effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation 
of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk.  These controls are monitored 

throughout the entity and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest 
ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s 
business is conducted in a manner that 
in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach.  The focus of risk management 
in the entity is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the entity.  While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, 
the entity endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The members are of the opinion, based 
on the information and explanations 
given by management that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may 
be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the entity’s 
cash flow forecast for the year to 28 
February 2017 and, in the light of 
this review and the current financial 
position, it is satisfied that the entity has 
or has access to adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.  The annual financial 
statements are prepared on the basis 
that the entity is a going concern and 
that the Board has neither the intention 
nor the need to liquidate or curtail 
materially the scale of the entity.

Although the Board is primarily 
responsible for the financial affairs of 
the entity, it is supported by the entity’s 
external auditors.

The external auditors are responsible 
for independently reviewing and 
reporting on the entity’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial 
statements have been examined by 
the entity’s external auditors and their 
report is presented on page 43 to 44.

The annual financial statements set out 
on pages 45 to 68, which have been 
prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the Board on 20 July 
2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

 

Mrs. C Mabuza  
(Chairperson of the Board)

 

Mrs. P Roodt  
(Acting Chairperson: Finance 
Committee)

 

Mrs. S Snell  
(Executive Manager)

STATEMENT OF BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY 
AND APPROVAL
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REPORT ON THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction 

We have audited the financial 
statements of the South African Board 
for Sheriffs set out on pages 45 to 
68, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 29 February 
2016, the statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in 
net assets, the cash flow statement, and 
the statement of comparison of budget 
information and actual information 
for the year then ended, as well as 
the notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

The Board’s responsibility for 
the financial statements

The Board members which constitute 
the accounting authority are 
responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the 
South African Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice 
(SA Standards of GRAP) and the 
requirements of the Sheriffs Act, 1986 

(Act No. 90 of 1986) as amended, and 
the Public Audit Act, 2004 ( Act No. 25 
of 2004), and for such internal controls 
as the accounting authority determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Public 
Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act 
No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general 
notice issued in terms thereof and 
International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements, and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures 
to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.

An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the 
financial statements, policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the South 
African Board for Sheriffs as at 29 
February 2016 and its financial 
performance and cash flows and 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND 
CORRECTIONAL SERVICES ON THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
SOUTH AFRICAN BOARD FOR 
SHERIFFS
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statement of comparison of budget 
and actual amounts for the year 
then ended, in accordance with the 
South African Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice and 
the requirements of the Sheriffs Act, 
1986 (Act No. 90 of 1986) as amended.

REPORT ON OTHER 
LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS 

In accordance with the PAA and the 
General Notice issued in terms thereof, 
we report the following findings on 
the performance information against 
predetermined objectives, non-
compliance with legislations as well as 
internal control. We performed tests to 
identify reportable findings as described 
under each subheading but not to 
gather evidence to express assurance 
on these matters. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion or conclusion 
on these matters.

Predetermined objectives 

We did not audit performance against 
predetermined objectives, as the entity 
is not required to prepare a report on 
its performance against predetermined 
objectives. The entity does not fall 
within the ambit of the PFMA and 
the entity-specific legislation does 
not require reporting on performance 
against predetermined objectives. 
There are no matters to report.

Compliance with legislation 

We performed procedures to obtain 
evidence that the South African 
Board for Sheriffs had complied with 
legislation regarding financial matters, 
financial management and other 
related matters. We did not identify any 
instances of material non-compliance 
with specific matters in key legislation, 
as set out in the general notice issued 
in terms of the PAA.

Internal Control

We considered internal control relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements, 
annual performance report and 
compliance with legislation. We did not 
identify any significant deficiencies in 
internal control.

 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc.

Director: Natalie Arendse
Registered auditor
22 July 2016

Head Office
20 Morris Street East, Woodmead, 2191
P.O.Box 2939, Saxonwold, 2132
Tel: +27 (0) 11 231 0600

Cape Town Office 
2nd Floor, Block A - Century Falls
32 Century Boulevard, Century City
7441
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BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT

The Board members submit their report for the year ended 29 February 2016.

Review of activities  

Main business and operations 

The entity is governed in terms of the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986, the objectives of the Board are to maintain the esteem, enhance 
the status and improve the standard of training and functions performed by sheriffs who operate throughout South Africa.

Going concern  

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

Events after the reporting period 

The Board is not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year that would materially impact 
on the financial position of the entity.

Public Finance Management Act 

The Board resolved in its meeting held on the 15 October 2015 that it would not pursue a listing by National Treasury in terms 
of the PFMA. The Board has resolved that it will adopt and implement the principles of the PFMA into its policies where it is 
economical and practical to do so. 

Board Members  

The Board members during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

NAME CHANGES 

P Roodt Reappointed 01 March 2015 

H Mohamed Reappointed 01 March 2015

T Tembe Reappointed 01 March 2015 

C. Mabuza (Chairperson) Reappointed 01 March 2015

N. Soga Appointed: 01 March 2015

N. Skosana  Resigned: 01 August 2015 

NAME CHANGES

M. Lephadi Appointed: 01 March 2015

I. Klynsmith Appointed: 01 March 2015

L. Mashapa Appointed: 01 March 2015

L. Fernandez Appointed: 01 March 2015

M. Magida Appointed: 01 March 2015

K. Sigenu Appointed: 01 May 2016
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2016 

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2016 2015

 Assets   

 Current Assets   

 Trade and other receivables  8 1,421,470 1,018,242

 Receivable from related party  10 2,819,269 1,886,966

 Cash and cash equivalents  9 4,221,065 7,849,095

8,461,804  10,754,303 

 Non-Current Assets   

 Property, plant and equipment  4  2,394,666  2,477,061

 Intangible assets                                                                         5 1,505,208 1,258,516

3,899,873  3,735,577

 Total Assets 12,361,677 14,489,880

 Non-Current Liabilities   

 Finance lease liabilities  11  - 7,176

    

 Current Liabilities   

    

 Trade and other payables  12 1,476,166 1,225,738

 Provisions  13 132,719 2,781,328

 Total Liabilities  1,608,885  4,014,242

 Net Assets  10,752,793  10,475,638

  

  

 Accumulated Surplus 10,685,631 10,475,638

 Non- Distributable Reserve 67,162 -

  10,752,793 10,475,638

Total Net Assets  10 561 642  11 337 161
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2016 2015

 Revenue  15 16,077,250 15,056,029

 Other income  15 135,228 1,942,266

 Operating expenses (16,354,291 ) (18,140,407 )

 Operating surplus  16 (141,813 ) (1,142,112 )

 Investment revenue  18 351,806 305,884

 Finance costs  -  -

 Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  29 209,993 (836,228 )
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

FIGURES IN RAND
ACCUMULATED 

SURPLUS

NDR - 
REVALUATION 

RESERVE
TOTAL NET ASSETS

Balance at 01 March 2014 11,311,866 - 11,311,866

Changes in net assets   

Deficit for the year (836,228) - (836,228)

Balance at 01 March 2015 10,475,638 - 10,475,638

Changes in net assets   

Surplus for the year 209,993 67,162 67,162

Balance at 29 February 2016 10,685,631 67,162 10,752,793
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016   

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities   

Receipts   

Receipts from sheriffs and Fidelity Fund 19,292,550 22,286,136

Payments   

Payments to suppliers and Fidelity Fund (21,199,611) (21,212,715)
  
Net cash from operating activities  20 (1,666,879) 1,073,421
  
Cash flows from investing activities   
  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  4 (225,504) (384,221)

Proceeds on sale of assets - 2,664

Purchase of intangible assets  5 (428,672) (533,560)

Movement on receivbable from related party (932,302) 7,231,379

Interest income 351,807 305,884

Finance cost  4 (719,305) (803)

Net cash flows from investing activities (1,953,977) 6,621,343

Cash flows from financing activities   

Increase Finance lease obligations  -  -

Payments made (7,175) (13,973)

Net cash flows from finance activities  11 (7,175) (13,973)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,628,030) 7,680,791

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7,849,095 168,304

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year  9 4,221,065 7,849,095
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

FIGURES IN RAND
APPROVED      

BUDGET

ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS ON 
COMPARABLE 

BASIS

DIFFERENCE 
BETWEEN 

BUDGET AND 
ACTUAL

NOTE

Revenue

Levies received 6,200,000 5,647,941 (552,059) 27

Administrative fees 10,356,811 10,429,309 72,498 27

Investment income 300,000 351,806 51,806 27

Other income 250,000 135,228 (114,772) 27

Total revenue 17,106,811 16,564,284 (542,527) 27

Operating Expenses

Board and sub committees 2,070,477 1,712,972 (357,505) 27

Executive Manager's Office 880,000 1,651,350 771,350 27

Legal and Complaints Division 323,204 116,189 (207,015) 27

Formal Disciplinary Hearings 572,690 579,863 7,173 27

Finance, Administration and Compliance Division 484,250 345,049 (139,201) 27

Communication Activities 1,080,000 430,677 (649,323) 27

Training 1,760,000 828,568 (931,432) 27

General Operations - Depreciation 332,125 557,038 224,913 27

Contracts i.e. Cleaning, Office Maintenance 152,671 279,120 126,449 27

Other General Office Expenditure 1,528,234 2,435,306 907,072 27

Personnel Expenditure 7,720,000 7,328,556 (391,444) 27

Staff Development 180,000 89,604 (90,396) 27

Contingency budget 20,000  - (20,000) 27

Total expenses 17,103,651 16,354,291 (749,360) 27

Net Surplus 3,160 209,993 206,833 27
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. Presentation of Annual Financial 
Statements 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

These annual financial statements have been prepared on 
an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 
historical cost convention unless specified otherwise. They are 
presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have 
been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the annual financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the annual financial statements 
and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the annual financial 
statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the 
surplus makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a 
portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for 
national and industry specific economic conditions and other 
indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with 
defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied 
to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated 
loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. 

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available. 

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future cash 
flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors, an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and 
deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
The impairment is measured as the difference between the 
debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate, 
computed at initial recognition.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets 
(including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, 
or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used 
during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; 
and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at 
cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 
purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, 
its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an item of 
property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost 
is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, 
plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part 
is derecognised.
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Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

Measurement Subsequent to initial recognition- Plant 
and equipment.

Plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis 
over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value.

Measurement Subsequent  to initial recognition- 
Property.

After recognition as an asset, Property whose fair value can be 
measured reliably shall be carried at a revalued amount, being 
its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses. Revaluations shall be made with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from that which would be determined using fair value 
at the reporting date.  Property will be revalued every 3 years.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have 
been assessed as follows:

Item  Average useful life

Property  50 years
Burglar alarms      10 years
Computer equipment    4 years
Furniture and fixtures  4 years
Kitchen appliances  3 years
Office equipment  3 years
Motor vehicles  5 years

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. If 
the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is 
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus 
or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of another 
asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when 
the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Use of estimates and management judgement

In assessing the remaining useful lives and residual values 
of property, plant and equipment, management have made 
judgements based on historical evidence as well as the current 
condition of property, plant and equipment under its control.

1.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:

• is capable of being separated or divided from an entity 
and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, 
either individually or together with a related contract, 
assets or liability; or

• arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, 
regardless whether those rights are transferable or separate 
from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits 
or service potential that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured 
reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 

An intangible asset acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost 
shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it 
will be available for use or sale;

• there is an ability to use or sell it;

• it will generate probable future economic benefits or 
service potential;

• there are available technical, financial and other resources 
to complete the development and to use or sell the asset; 
and

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its 
development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.
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The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, 
on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Initial recognition and measurement

Item  Average useful life

Computer software   3 years
Copy Right Material  0 years
Electronic Database  10 years

1.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into 
the following categories:

• Financial instruments at fair value;

• Financial instruments at amortised costs; and

• Financial instruments at cost.

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component 
parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, 
except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 
determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified 
as available for sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method.

Impairment of financial assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses all 
financial assets, other than those at fair value through surplus 
or deficit, to determine whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been 
impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of 
impairment.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an 
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in 
surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When such 
assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. 

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts 
are recognised in surplus or deficit when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.

The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit 
is recognised in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against operating expenses in surplus or deficit.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits and other short term highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially recorded 
at fair value and subsequently recorded at amortised cost.

1.5 LEASES

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as 
a finance lease obligation.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance 
of the liability.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease revenue is recognised as revenue on a straight 
line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as the lease revenue.

The aggregate cost of incentives is recognised as a reduction 
of rental revenue over the lease term on a straight line basis.

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a 
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight 
line basis.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in statement of 
financial performance.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 
straight line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual 
payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.6 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short term employee benefits, (those payable within 
12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 
leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits 
such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the 
service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised 
as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, 
when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is 
recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are 
charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry managed (or state plans) retirement 
benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution plans 
where the entity’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to 
those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.7 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential will be required to 
settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it 
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the 
entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a 
separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement 
does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.  
Contingencies are disclosed in note 28.



55 South African Board for Sheriffs Annual Report 2016

1.8 REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows result 
in an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to 
contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, 
services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. An exchange transaction will be 
recognised as and when the Board receives a declaration from 
the sheriff.  

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

• When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering 
of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated 
reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest, royalties and dividends

• Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest, royalties and dividends is recognised 
when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Investment income will be recognised as and when the Fund 
becomes entitled to the income.

Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised 
as revenue over the period during which the service is performed.

1.9 REVENUE FROM NON EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or 
service potential received and receivable by an entity, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify 
that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as 
specified or future economic benefits or service potential must 
be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or otherwise 
benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives and can exclude 
or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit.

Non exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non exchange transaction, an 
entity either receives value from another entity without directly 
giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value 
to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal 
value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or 
direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be used, 
but do not specify that future economic benefits or service 
potential is required to be returned to the transferor if not 
deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or 
regulations, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the use 
of a transferred asset by entities external to the reporting entity.
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Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the 
extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same 
inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as 
a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non 
exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the 
carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an 
amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non exchange transaction is measured at the 
amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity.

When, as a result of a non exchange transaction, the entity 
recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to 
the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a 
liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be 
measured as the best estimate of the amount required to settle 
the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the 
increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a 
liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable event 
occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction 
in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.10 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified 
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.11 IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL 
EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure means expenditure which was made 
in contravention of the SABFS policies and procedures as 
approved by the Board.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in 
vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been 
exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The 
expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the 
expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted 
for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.12 BUDGET INFORMATION

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form 
of budget authorisations (or equivalent), which is given effect 
through Board resolutions or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by entity shall provide 
information on whether resources were obtained and used in 
accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The annual financial statements and the budget are not on the 
same basis of accounting therefore a reconciliation between 
the statement of financial performance and the budget have 
been included in the annual financial statements. Refer to note 
26.

1.13 RELATED PARTIES

The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting 
entity’s financial statements contain the disclosures necessary 
to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and 
surplus or deficit may have been affected by the existence of 
related parties and by transactions and outstanding balances 
with such parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under 
the accrual basis of accounting (in this standard referred to as 
the reporting entity) shall apply this standard in:

• identifying related party relationships and transactions;

• identifying outstanding balances, including commitments, 
between an entity and its related parties;

• identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of the 
items in (a) and (b) is required; and

• determining the disclosures to be made about those items.

This standard requires disclosure of related party relationships, 
transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, 
in the consolidated and separate financial statements of the 
reporting entity in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. This standard 
also applies to individual financial statements.

Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding balances, 
including commitments, and relationships with related parties 
may affect users’ assessments of the financial position and 
performance of the reporting entity and its ability to deliver agreed 
services, including assessments of the risks and opportunities 
facing the entity. This disclosure also ensures that the reporting 
entity is transparent about its dealings with related parties.

The standard states that a related party is a person or an entity 
with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or 
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exercise significant influence over the other party, or vice versa, 
or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control. 

As a minimum, the following are regarded as related parties of 
the reporting entity:

• A person or a close member of that person’s family is 
related to the reporting entity if that person;

• has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

• has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

• is a member of the management of the entity or its 
controlling entity.

An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following 
conditions apply:

• the entity is a member of the same economic entity (which 
means that each controlling entity, controlled entity and 
fellow controlled entity is related to the others);

• one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other 
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of an 
economic entity of which the other entity is a member);

• both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

• one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other 
entity is an associate of the third entity;

• the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit 
of employees of either the entity or an entity related to 
the entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are related to the entity;

• the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person 
identified in (a); and

• a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over 
that entity or is a member of the management of that 
entity (or its controlling entity).

The standard furthermore states that a related party transaction 
is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the 
reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a 
price is charged.

The standard elaborates on the definitions and identification of:

• Close member of the family of a person;

• Management;

• Related parties;

• Remuneration; and

• Significant influence.

2. Changes in accounting policy

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice on a basis consistent with the prior year 
except where new standards became available.

3. New standards and interpretations 

3.1 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS 
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED AND EFFECTIVE

During the current year, the entity has adopted all new and 
revised standards and interpretations, which have been 
published and are mandatory for the entity’s accounting 
periods beginning on or after 01 April 2015.

The following standards were effective for first time for 
financial statements covering periods beginning 1 April 2015.  

The following standards were not applicable to the entity:

• GRAP 18 Segment reporting

• GRAP 105 Transfers of functions between entities under 
common control

• GRAP 106 Transfers of functions between entities not 
under common control GRAP 107 Mergers

3.2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS 
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED, BUT NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE

The following standards were issued, but were not yet effective 
for the 2016 financial year-end:

• GRAP 32 Service concession arrangements: Grantor

• GRAP 108 Statutory receivables

• GRAP 109 Accounting by principals and agents
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

4. Property, plant and equipment

FIGURES IN RAND
 2016 2015

 COST 
ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 

CARRYING 
VALUE 

 COST 
 ACCUMULATED 

DEPRECIATION 
 CARRYING 

VALUE 

Burglar alarms 2,700 (2,700 )  - 2,700 (2,700 ) -
Computer equipment 800,895 (516,268 ) 284,627 786,583 (381,303 ) 405,280
Furniture and fixtures 778,517 (584,968 ) 193,549 767,751 (464,144 ) 303,607
Kitchen appliances 13,644 (11,959 ) 1,685 12,936 (9,838 ) 3,098
Office equipment 150,959 (139,634 ) 11,325 149,132 (119,831 ) 29,301
Motor vehicles 197,890 (27,217 ) 170,673 - - -
Property 1,804,052 (71,246 ) 1,732,806 1,850,608 (114,833 ) 1,735,775
Total 3,748,657 (1,353,991 ) 2,394,666 3,569,710 (1,092,649 ) 2,477,061
   

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment –  2016  

 OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS
DEPRECIATION 

CHARGE

VALUATION/ 
IMPAIRMENT 

ADJUSTMENTS

CLOSING 
BALANCE

Burglar alarms  - - - - - -
Computer equipment 405,280 14,312 - (134,964 ) - 284,627
Furniture and fixtures 303,607 10,766 - (120,824 ) - 193,549
Kitchen appliances 3,098 708 - (2,121 ) - 1,685
Office equipment 29,301 1,827 - (19,803 ) - 11,325
Motor vehicles  - 197,890  - (27,217 ) - 170,673
Property 1,735,775 - - 43,587 (46,556 ) 1,732,806
 2,477,060 225,504 - (261,342 ) (46,556 ) 2,394,666
   

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment –  2015  

 OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS
DEPRECIATION 

CHARGE

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 
ON DISPOSALS

CLOSING 
BALANCE

Burglar alarms  - - - - - -

Computer equipment 280,375 288,211 (137,143 ) (162,436 ) 136,273 405,280

Furniture and fixtures 357,325 1,212 - (54,930 ) - 303,607

Kitchen appliances 6,246 520 - (3,668 ) - 3,098

Office equipment 54,226 - (199 ) (24,867 ) 141 29,301

Property 1,740,854 94,278 - (99,357 ) - 1,735,775

 2,439,025 384,221 (137,342 ) (345,258 ) 136,414 2,477,061

Property  

The Board have acquired a property situated at 88 Loop Street, Cape Town.  The property was bought in the name of the SABFS as 
the Fidelity Fund can only invest in property and not own property. The property have been accounted for as follows: 

  2016  2015

Cost of Building 13,370,326 13,370,326

less Portion Accounted for in the books of the Fidelity Fund (12,127,897) (12,127,897)

 1,242,429 1,242,429

Additions as per Board Approval 513,901 513,901
Renovations 2015  94,278 94,278
Total Cost 28 February 2015 1,850,608 1,850,608
Less Accumulated Depreciation at 29 February 2016 (113,719) -
Add Revaluation at 29 February 2016 67,162 -
Total  Revalued amount/Cost 29 February 2016  1 804 052,01  1 850 608
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A Valuation of the property was undertaken by Powells, Asset Valuation and disposals on the 25th February 2016.  
The portion reflected is the portion related to the SABFS only.  The property was valued at R13,750,000
  
 5. Intangible Assets 

 2016 2015

 COST 
ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION 

CARRYING 
VALUE 

 COST 
 ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION 

 CARRYING 
VALUE 

Computer software 201,765 (151,169 ) 50,596 261,765 (174,570 ) 87,195
Copyright material 1,322,639 (136,494) 1,186,145 893,966 (26,000 ) 867,966
Electronic database 408,871 (140,404) 268,467 348,872 (45,517 ) 303,355
Total 1,933,275 428,067 1,505,208 1,504,603 (246,087 ) 1,258,516
  

Reconciliation of intangible assets –  2016  

 OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS AMORTISATION
VALUATION/ 
IMPAIRMENT 

ADJUSTMENTS

CLOSING 
BALANCE

Computer software 87,195 - - (41,892 ) 5,293 50,596

Copyright material 867,966 428,673 - (110,494 )  1,186,145

Electronic database 303,355  - (34,888 ) - 268,467
 1,258,516 428,673 - (187,274 ) 5,293 1,505,208
 

Reconciliation of intangible assets –  2015  

 OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS AMORTISATION
ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION 
ON DISPOSALS

CLOSING 
BALANCE

Computer software 42,376 81,965 (101,993 ) (37,146 ) 101,993.00 87,195

Copy right material 429,371 451,595 - (13,000 )  867,966
Electronic database 338,241 - - (34,886 ) - 303,355
 809,988 533,560 (101,993 ) (85,032 ) 101,993 1,258,516
  
 6. Correction of error 

During the current financial year, the SABFS has corrected an error in the non-current assets of the entity. Assets acquired 
with the building were not costed and were taken as zero cost on the fixed assets register.  Most of these movable assets 
were assets which are antique items and a specialist was required to appraise these items. The SABFS has appointed 
an appraiser to determine the value of these moveable assets acquired with the property in the 2014 financial year.   
The entries to correct the error were processed according to GRAP 3 and the effect of it is disclosed below.

 2016  2015
Effect on the statement of Comprehensive performance 
  
Increase in Depreciation expense:  Furniture & fixtures - (65,988)
  
Decrease in Depreciation expense:  Property  5,279

      - (60,709)
  
Effect on Statement of financial position 

Decrease in property - (263,950 )

Increase in Furniture and fixtures - 263,950

Decrease in Accumulated depreciation - Property - (7,479 )

Increase in Accumulated depreciation - Furniture and fixtures - 93,482
  
Decrease in Accumulated surplus - (86,004 )
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FIGURES IN RAND  2016  2015

7. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables 1,421,470 1,018,242

Cash and cash equivalents 4,221,065 7,849,095

5,642,535 8,867,337
 
8. Trade and other receivables
  
Accrued income 1,259,337 793,861

Provision for Bad Debts (118,558) (130,195)

Other receivables 42,616 310,653

Value Added Taxation 238,074 43,923

 1,421,470 1,018,242

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date 
  
The ageing of accounts receivables are as follows: 

  

30 days 460,638 784,733

60 days plus 960,831 233,509

     1,421,470 1,018,242

9. Cash and cash equivalents
  
Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

Cash on hand 3,621 1,029

Bank balances 121,065 105,693

Short-term deposits 4,096,379 7,742,373

  4,221,065 7,849,095

 
10. Receivable from related party 
  
Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs – owing amount 2,819,269 1,886,966
  
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.  
 
11. Long term liabilities 
  
Finance lease liabilities       
  
Vodacom Laptops 7,176 21,149

Less: Payments made (7,176) (13,973)

     - 7,176

 
12. Trade and other payables 
  
Accrued expenses 1,476,166 1,225,738

  1,476,166 1,225,738
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13. Provisions   

Leave provision 132,719 77,693

Value Added Taxation - 2,703,635

  132,719 2,781,328
 
14. Financial liabilities by category
 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

 

Financial liabilities by category 
 
Trade and other payables 1,476,166 1,225,738

 

15. Revenue

Levies received 5,647,941 5,301,027

Administrative fees received          10,429,309 9,755,002

Fines and penalties 135,228 643,272

SASSETA grants - 1,297,257

Grant DOJ & CD - -

 16,212,478 16,996,558

The amounts included in revenue arising from exchange of goods or service are as follows:
 
Administrative fees received 10,429,309 9,755,002

 10,429,309 9,755,002
 
The amounts included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions are as follows:
 
Levies received 5,647,941 5,301,027

Fines and penalties 135,228 643,272

SASSETA grants - 1,297,257

 5,783,169 7,241,556
 
16. Operating surplus/(deficit)

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Lease rentals on operating lease 282,774 301,289

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 369,765 350,537

Amortisation of intangible assets 187,274 85,032

Auditor’s remuneration 88,972 138,296

Consulting fees 596,159 1,566,656

Employee costs 7,840,897 7,771,648

17. Auditor’s remuneration

Audit Fees 88,972 138,296
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18. Investment Revenue
  
Interest revenue

Short-term deposits 351,806 305,884
  
19. Taxation

No provision has been made for 2016 taxation as the receipts and accruals to the entity are exempt from income tax in 
terms of section 10(1)(A)(i) of the Income Tax Act.

20. Cash generated from operations

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 209,993 (836,228)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 369,765 411,246

Amortisation 187,274 85,032

Interest received (351,806) (305,884)

Impairment of assets -

Gain on sale of assets - (1,737)

Finance costs 719,305 803

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (403,228) 1,591,265

Provisions (2,648,609) 531,989

Trade and other payables 250,428 (403,065)

(1,666,879) 1,073,421

21. Commitments

Operating leases – as lessee (office equipment and telephone systems) 
 
Minimum lease payments due 

    -     within one year 269,243 269,243

    -     in second to fifth year inclusive 628,234 897,477

    897,477 1,166,720

22.  Related parties
  
Relationships

Common Board members  Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs

The South African Board for Sheriffs was established under the Sheriffs’ Act Act and the Fidelity Fund is managed by the Board 
on behalf of the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services. The Board enters into various transactions at arm’s length with the 
Fidelity Fund. The Board and the Fidelity Fund had common Board members for the year.

Related party balances

Receivable from related party

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs 2,819,269 1,886,966

Administration fees charged to related party

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs 10,429,309 9,755,002

The Administrative fee is based on an agreement signed between the Board and the Fidelity Fund.
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23. Risk management

Financial risk management 

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. 

Liquidity risk 

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an on-going review of future commitments. 

Cash is managed prudently by keeping sufficient cash in bank accounts. Cash is received from sheriffs and the Fidelity Fund.  

Interest rate risk 

The Board has interest-bearing assets and the income and operating cash flows are substantially dependent on the 
changes in market interest rates. The interest-bearing assets consist of short term investments with floating interest rates 
that expose the Board to cash flow interest rate risks. The interest rate used is based on the Prime rate.

Credit risk 

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents  and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major 
banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an 
on-going basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, 
risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other 
factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board. The 
utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.

24. Going Concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

25. Events after the reporting date

The Board is not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year which significantly affect 
the financial position of the Board or the result of operations.

26. Public Finance Management Act

In a Board meeting held on the 15th October 2015, the Board resolved that the SABFS would no longer seeking listing 
in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (“PFMA”) schedules as required by S47(2) of the PFMA. The entity has 
therefore not been audited against the requirements of the PFMA, and the entity has therefore maintained its financial year 
for this reporting period as the end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act.
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 27. Explanation of variances between Actual and Budget  
  
Revenue 

The under-recovery of revenue by R542,572 representing 3.17% is attributed to the following: 

Levies 

The under-recovery of levies of 8.90% is due less favarouble business conditions of sheriffs. 

Administrative fee

The over-recovery of 0.70% can be attributed to the increases in the interest rate during the financial year.

Investment income 

The over-recovery of 17.27% on this line item is a direct result of the interest rate hikes that took place during the financial 
year.  Movements on the account took place during the financial year.

Other income

The under recovery of 45.91% on this line item is due to sheriffs being fined for late submission of legal obligations. The 
process of charging sheriffs have been refined to ensure fair processes.

Operating expenses 

Total expenses are under budget by R749,360 representing a 4.38% under-recovery which is attributed to the following: 

Board and sub committees  

The under-recovery of 17.27% on this line item is due to a reduction in the number of meetings being held and also saving 
measures implemented by the Board.

Executive Manager's office

The over-recovery of this line item of 87.65% was due to an over-recovery of legal fees  of 361.66%, over-recovery on 
research & other projects of 347.37%, under-recovery on special projects of 41.76% other items and under-recovery of 
80.00% on discretionary requests.

Legal and Complaints division 

The under-recovery of the line item of 64.05% is due to the division being without a permanent manager and fewer 
investigations were performed.

Formal Disciplinary hearings

The over-recovery of 1.25% on this line item is directly related to the number of disciplinary inquiries held during the year 
under review.  The number of disciplinary inquiries were more than the previous year.
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 27. Explanation of variances between Actual and Budget (continued)
  
Finance, Administration and Compliance Division 

The under-recovery of 28.75% on this line item is due to an underspend on all the line items. The major contributor was

consultancy fees. 

Communication activities

The under-recovery of 60.12% on this line item was due to the fact that certain activities planned for this year did not take place.

Training

The under-recovery of 52.92% on this line is due to the austerity measures implemented by the Board.

General operations - depreciation

The over-recovery of 67.72% on this line item relates to the depreciation which was under provided for in the budget in the 
current financial year. Changes in the amount of depreciation are due to the reclassification of assets in the financial year.

Contracts i.e. Cleaning and office maintenance

The over-recovery of 82.82% on this line item is due to the increase in the maintenance of the building relating to the damp 
wall and the fresh air supply to the building, and less than 10% under recovery in cleaning and security expenses.

Other general office expenditure

This over-recovery of 43.64% on this line item is due to annual increases in leasing charges of 10%, over recovery of 
27.05% in recruitment expenses, over-recovery of 58.08% in subscription expenses and the over-recovery of the interest 
and penalties relating to the VAT ruling refer to note 28.

Personnel expenditure

The under-recovery of 5.07% in this line item is due to savings obtained with vacant positions and performance bonuses 
being less than budgeted.

Staff development

The under-recovery of 50.22% in this line item was due to not all performance work plans being implemented during the 
financial year.

Contingency

The under-recovery of 100% in this line item is directly related to other savings incurred during the financial year.
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27. Explanation of variances between Actual and Budget (continued)

The following persons were employed by the Board in their respective executive capacities during the financial year.

Executive Management remuneration

S Snell Executive Manager (appointed 1 August 2015) 478,152 -

H Kagee Executive Manager (resigned 8 August 2014) - 402,847

V Botha Legal and Complaints General Manager 402,802 -

BZ Luthuli Finance, HR, IT and *Acting Executive  Manager 574,606 551,388

VP Nel Training and Communication Manager 492,262 445,238

L Mtunzi General Manager Legal and Complaints - 532,332

AC Simon General Manager Corporate and Financial Services 603,712 571,097

 2,551,534 2,502,902

*Acting Executive Manager - Mr Luthuli was appointed on 21 May 2014 as Acting Executive Manager

Board Members emoluments(non-executive) 2016  2015

ALLOWANCES
REIMBURSEMENT 

OF EXPENSES
ALLOWANCES

REIMBURSEMENT 
OF EXPENSES

C. Mabuza 71,933 61 344 211,968 126,629
H. Mohamed -
P. Roodt 92,987 3,498 129,968 10,129
T. Tembe 78,646 3,287 93,240 8,642
N. Soga 48,544 501 - -
S. Skosana 14,956 564 - -
M. Magida 69,978 1,368 - -
M. Lephadi 54,959 6,554 - -
LD. Fernandez 49,680 408 - -
L. Mashapa 2,978 441 - -
I. Klynsmith 63,458 27,426 - -
G. Cronje - Independent Chairperson of Audit Committee 35,023 - - -
N. Nxumalo - 1,095 25,560 4,898
H.J. Choma - - 93,008 22,935
T.F. Seboka - - 123,445 8,928
L. Best - - 33,168 1,400
H. Ntsikeni - - 31,320 11,595
F.R. Moeletsi - - 40,320 3,915
A. Mawela - - 121,797 12,255

583,142 106,486 903,794 211,326

29. VAT Ruling impact

Value Added Taxation (VAT)

Net surplus/(deficit) as per Income statement 209,993 (836,228)

Vat apportionment adjustment 719,022 1,278,415

Surplus for the year 929,015 442,188

The Tax Ruling on the VAT obtain on 29 January 2015 caused the SABFS to incur a deficit in the prior year of R836,228.

Interest and Penalties on VAT ruling

The interest and fines of R719,022 on the VAT ruling obtained in 2015 was not available as at the date of the audit in the 
previous financial year and is only being expensed in the current year.
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FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2016 2015

Revenue

Levies received   5,647,941 5,301,027

Administrative fees 10,429,309 9,755,002

SASSETA grants   - 1,297,257

Fines and penalties   135,228 643,272

Total revenue 15 16,212,478 16,996,558

Other income

Investment income 351,806 351,806

Profit on sale of Assets - 1,737

Impairment of Assets - -

Operating income 16,564,284 17,304,179
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FIGURES IN RAND 2016 2015

Operating expenses

Accommodation  214,265 458,019

Auditor’s remuneration  17 88,972 138,296

Bad Debts  (11,638) -

Bank charges  36,255 28,229

Catering expenses  135,281 225,244

Cleaning  69,689 63,408

Communication and public education  295,072 644,840

Consulting fees  596,159 1,566,656

Criminal and credit clearance  17,815 10,967

DC & Inspections  202,344 100,500

Depreciation  557,038 496,278

Electricity and water  121,624 143,479

Employee costs  7,840,897 7,771,648

Finance Charges  719,305 803

Gifts  21,440 8,849

IT expenses  71,411 68,106

Insurance  123,360 96,048

Lease rentals on operating lease  282,774 301,289

Legal fees  982,271 789,499

Parking expenses  53,890 49,119

Postage  174,112 71,929

Printing and stationery  729,602 553,135

Recruitment expenses  279,515 127,806

Repairs and maintenance  202,836 156,454

Security  6,595 11,294

Staff welfare  116,255 88,248

Subscriptions  118,557 42,887

Telephone and fax  286,903 282,024

Training  918,172 1,952,999 

Travel – local  1,103,520 1,892,354

   16,354,291 18,140,407 

    

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  209,993 (836,228) 
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The Board is required by the Sheriffs 
Act, No. 90 of 1986, to maintain 
adequate accounting records and is 
responsible for the content and integrity 
of the annual financial statements and 
related financial information included 
in this report. It is the responsibility of 
the Board to ensure that the annual 
financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the entity as at the 
end of the financial year and the results 
of its operations and cash flows for 
the period then ended. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual 
financial statements and were given 
unrestricted access to all financial 
records and related data.

The annual financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with 
Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including 
any interpretations, guidelines and 
directives issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are 
based on appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgments and estimates. The Board 
acknowledges that it is ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal 
financial control established by 
the entity and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the 
Board to meet these responsibilities, the 
Board sets standards for internal control 
aimed at reducing the risk of error or 
deficit in a cost-effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation 
of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk. These controls are monitored 

throughout the entity and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest 
ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s 
business is conducted in a manner that 
in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management 
in the entity is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the entity. While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, 
the entity endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The members are of the opinion, based 
on the information and explanations 
given by management that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may 
be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the entity’s 
cash flow forecast for the year to 28 
February 2017 and, in the light of 
this review and the current financial 
position, it is satisfied that the entity has 
or has access to adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. The annual financial 
statements are prepared on the basis 
that the entity is a going concern and 
that the Board has neither the intention 
nor the need to liquidate or curtail 
materially the scale of the entity.

Although the Board is primarily 
responsible for the financial affairs of 
the entity, it is supported by the entity’s 
external auditors.

The external auditors are responsible 
for independently reviewing and 
reporting on the entity’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial 
statements have been examined by 
the entity’s external auditors and their 
report is presented on pages 71 to 72.

The annual financial statements with 
selected notes set out on pages 73 to 
91, which have been prepared on the 
going-concern basis, were approved 
by the Board on 20 July 2016 and were 
signed on its behalf by:

 

Mrs. C Mabuza  
(Chairperson of the Board)

 

Mrs. P Roodt  
(Acting Chairperson: Finance 
Committee)

 

Mrs. S Snell  
(Executive Manager)

STATEMENT OF BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY 
AND APPROVAL
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REPORT ON THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction 

We have audited the financial 
statements of the Fidelity Fund for 
Sheriffs set out on pages 73 to 91, which 
comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 29 February 2016, the 
statement of financial performance, 
statement of changes in net assets, the 
cash flow statement and the statement 
of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts for the year then ended, as well 
as the notes, comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

The Board’s responsibility for 
the financial statements 

The Board members which constitute 
the accounting authority are responsible 
for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements in 
accordance with the South African 
Standard of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (SA Standards 
of GRAP) and the requirements of the 
Sheriffs Act, 1986 (Act No. 90 of 1986) 
as amended, and the Public Audit Act, 

2004 ( Act No. 25 of 2004), and for such 
internal controls as the Board members 
determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Public 
Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 
25 of 2004) (PAA), the general notice 
issued in terms thereof and International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical 
requirements, and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures 
to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.

An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial 
statements, policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Fidelity 
Fund for Sheriffs as at 29 February 2016 
and its financial performance and cash 
flows and statement of comparison of 
budget and actual amounts for the year 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE 
MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND CORRECTIONAL 
SERVICES ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE FIDELITY FUND 
FOR SHERIFFS.
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then ended, in accordance with the 
South African Standard of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice and 
the requirements of the Sheriffs Act, 
1986 (Act No. 90 of 1986) as amended.

REPORT ON OTHER 
LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS 

In accordance with the PAA and the 
General Notice issued in terms thereof, 
we report the following findings on 
the performance information against 
predetermined objectives, non-
compliance with legislations as well as 
internal control. We performed tests to 
identify reportable findings as described 
under each subheading but not to gather 
evidence to express assurance on these 
matters. Accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion or conclusion on these 
matters.

Predetermined objectives 

We did not audit performance against 
predetermined objectives, as the entity 
is not required to prepare a report on 
its performance against predetermined 
objectives. The entity does not fall within 
the ambit of the PFMA and the entity-
specific legislation does not require 
reporting on performance against 
predetermined objectives. There are no 
matters to report.

Compliance with Legislations

We performed procedures to obtain 
evidence that the South African Board 
for Sheriffs had complied with legislation 
regarding financial matters, financial 
management and other related matters. 
We did not identify any instances of 
material non-compliance with specific 
matters in key legislation, as set out in 
the general notice issued in terms of the 
PAA.

Internal Control

We considered internal control relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements, 
annual performance report and 
compliance with legislation. We did not 
identify any significant deficiencies in 
internal control.

 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc.

Director: Natalie Arendse
Registered auditor
22 July 2016

Head Office
20 Morris Street East, Woodmead, 2191
P.O.Box 2939, Saxonwold, 2132
Tel: +27 (0) 11 231 0600

Cape Town Office 
2nd Floor, Block A - Century Falls
32 Century Boulevard, Century City
7441
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BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT

The Board members submit their report for the year ended 29 February 2016.

Review of activities  

Main business and operations 

The Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs (the Fund) is engaged and governed in terms of the Sheriffs Act, 90 of 1986. The Fund is controlled 
and managed by the South African Board for Sheriffs (the Board), which shall utilise the money in the Fund in accordance with 
the Sheriffs Act, 90 of 1986.

The operating results and state of affairs of the entity are fully set out in the attached annual financial statements and do not, in 
our opinion, require any further comment.

Going concern  

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

Events after the reporting period 

The Board is not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year that would materially impact 
on the financial position of the entity.

Public Finance Management Act 

The Board resolved in its meeting held on the 15 October 2015 that it would not pursue a listing by National Treasury in terms 
of the PFMA.  The Board has resolved that it will adopt and implement the principles of the PFMA into its policies where it is 
economical and practical to do so.  

Board Members  

The Board members during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

NAME CHANGES 

P Roodt Reappointed 01 March 2015 

H Mohamed Reappointed 01 March 2015

T Tembe Reappointed 01 March 2015 

C. Mabuza (Chairperson) Reappointed 01 March 2015

N. Soga Appointed: 01 March 2015

N. Skosana  Resigned: 01 August 2015 

NAME CHANGES

M. Lephadi Appointed: 01 March 2015

I. Klynsmith Appointed: 01 March 2015

L. Mashapa Appointed: 01 March 2015

L. Fernandez Appointed: 01 March 2015

M. Magida Appointed: 01 March 2015

K. Sigenu Appointed: 01 May 2016
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2016 

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2016 2015

Assets

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 6 349 974,38 102 669

Cash and cash equivalents 7 30 652 488,88 24 299 919

31 002 463,26 24 402 588
  
Non-Current Assets  

Investment in Property 4 12 052 782,67 11 818 388

Investments held to maturity 7 83 479 808,2 79 245 642

95 532 590,87 91 064 030 

Total Assets 126,535,054 115,466,618

Non Current Liabilities

Trust account balances 9  2 832 999,76  3 690 973

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 218 293,2 308 769

Payable to related party 8 2 819 268,95 1 886 966

Provisions 12 1 100 789,86 2 256 427

Total Liabilities 6 971 351,77 8 143 135

Net Assets 119 563 702,36 107 323 483

Net Assets

Accumulated Surplus 119 086 750,43 107 323 483

Non-Distributable reserve 476 951,93 -

Total Net Assets 119 563 702,36 107 323 483

  



75 South African Board for Sheriffs Annual Report 2016

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2016 2015

 Revenue 13 15,083,503 12,726,643

 Operating expenses (10,677,436) (10,677,436)

 Operating surplus  14 4,406,067 1,014,505

 Investment revenue 7,357,200 5,839,326

 Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 11,763,267 6,853,831



76  South African Board for Sheriffs Annual Report 2016

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

FIGURES IN RAND
ACCUMULATED 

SURPLUS

NDR - 
REVALUATION 

RESERVE
TOTAL NET ASSETS

Balance at 01 March 2014 100,469,652 - 100,469,652

Changes in net assets   

Surplus for the year 6,853,831 - 6,853,831

Balance at 01 March 2015 107,323,483 - 107,323,483

Changes in net assets   

Surplus for the year 11,763,267 476,952 12,240,219

Balance at 29 February 2016 119,086,750 476,952 119,563,702
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016   

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities   

Receipts   

Receipts from sheriffs and SABFS 23,017,269 21,897,419

Less Cash Payments to suppliers and SABFS   
  
Net cash from operating activities  16 2,297,234 (603,341)

  

Cash flows from investing activities   

Interest income 7,357,200 5,839,326

Movement in Investment held to maturity (4,234,166) (4,493,647)

Movement in financial assets - 634,796

Net movement in Investment in Property - -

Movement in Payable to related party 932,303 (7,231,379)

Net cash flows from investing activities 4,055,336 (5,250,904)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,352,570 (5,854,245)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 24,299,919 30,154,164

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 30,652,489 24,299,919
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE
APPROVED      

BUDGET

ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS ON 
COMPARABLE 

BASIS

DIFFERENCE 
BETWEEN 

BUDGET AND 
ACTUAL

NOTE

Revenue

Fidelity Fund Certificates   400,000  456,343  56,343 21

Interest income - Trust Accounts   13,200,000 14,627,160 1,427,160 21

Interest income - Investments  5,900,000 7,357,200 1,457,200 21

     

Total revenue  19,500,000 22,440,703 2,940,703 21

Operating Expenses

Administration fees  10,356,811 10,429,309 (72,498) 21

Audit fees  55,000  50,000  5,000 21

Bad Debts  - (41,458) 41,458 21

Bank Charges  10,000 7,800 2,200 21

Building maintenance   500,000  -  500,000 21

Claims against the Fidelity Fund  22  750,000 (1,453,937) 2,203,937 21

Consulting fees   400,000 -  400,000 21

Depreciation  250,000  242,557 7,442 21

Finance charges  -  73,124 (73,124) 21

Insurances  1,450,000 1,248,116 201,884 21

Legal fees  300,000 - 300,000 21

Utilities   120,000 121,924 (1,924) 21

Total expenses  14,191,811 10,677,436 3,514,375 21

     

Net Surplus  5,308,189 11,763,267 (6,455,078) 21



79 South African Board for Sheriffs Annual Report 2016

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Annual Financial 
Statements 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.  These annual financial 
statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of 
accounting and are in accordance with historical cost 
convention unless specified otherwise. They are presented in 
South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have 
been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the annual financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the annual financial statements 
and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the annual financial 
statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the 
entity makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a 
portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for 
national and industry specific economic conditions and other 
indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with 
defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied 
to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated 
loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. 

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available. Additional 
disclosures of these estimates of provisions are included in 
note 12.

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future cash 
flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and 
deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
The impairment is measured as the difference between the 
debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate, 
computed at initial recognition. A provision for bad/doubtful 
debts are provided in terms of the policy of the SABFS.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets 
that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and 
are expected to be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the entity;  
and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at 
cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 
purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, 
its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an item of 
property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost 
is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, 
plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part 
is derecognised.
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Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

Measurement Subsequent  to initial recognition Property.

After recognition as an asset, Property whose fair value can be 
measured reliably shall be carried at a revalued amount, being 
its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses. Revaluations shall be made with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from that which would be determined using fair value 
at the reporting date.  Property will be revalued every 3 years.

The useful live of items of property have been assessed as 
follows:

Item  Average useful life

Property  50 years

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. If 
the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is 
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in 
surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when 
the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into 
the following categories:

• Financial instruments at fair value;

• Financial instruments at amortised costs; and

• Financial instruments at cost.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component 
parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, 
except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 
determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified 
as available for sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses all 
financial assets, other than those at fair value through surplus 
or deficit, to determine whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been 
impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of 
impairment.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an 
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in 
surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When such 
assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

 Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts 
are recognised in surplus or deficit when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
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enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.

The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit 
is recognised in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against operating expenses in surplus or deficit.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits and other short term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are 
initially recorded at fair value and subsequently recorded at 
amortised cost.

1.4 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential will be required to 
settle the obligation;  and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it 
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the 
entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a 
separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement 

does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. 
Contingencies are disclosed in note 24.

1.5 REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows result 
in an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to 
contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, 
services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  An exchange 
transaction will be recognised as and when the Fund receives 
a declaration from the sheriffs.  

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering 
of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction at the reporting date.  
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The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when 
all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding 
interest, royalties and dividends is recognised when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity, and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective 
interest rate method.  Interest as revenue will be recognised 
when a declaration is received from a sheriff along with an 
auditor’s report.

Investment income will be recognised as and when the Fund 
becomes entitled to the income.

Fidelity fund applications will be recognised when the 
certificate is issued.

1.6 REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or 
service potential received and receivable by an entity, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify 
that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as 
specified or future economic benefits or service potential must 
be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or otherwise 
benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives and can exclude 
or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an 
entity either receives value from another entity without directly 
giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value 
to another entity without directly receiving approximately 
equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or 
direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be used, 
but do not specify that future economic benefits or service 
potential is required to be returned to the transferor if not 
deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or 
regulations, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the use 
of a transferred asset by entities external to the reporting entity.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to 
the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the 
same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as 
a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-
exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the 
carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an 
amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the 
amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity 
recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to 
the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a 
liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will 
be measured as the best estimate of the amount required to 
settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of 
the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When 
a liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable event 
occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction 
in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.7 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified 
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.8  IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL 
EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure means expenditure which was made 
in contravention of the SABFS policies and procedures as 
approved by the Board.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in 
vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been 
exercised.
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All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The 
expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the 
expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted 
for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.9 BUDGET INFORMATION

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form 
of budget authorisations (or equivalent), which is given effect 
through Board resolutions or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by entity shall provide 
information on whether resources were obtained and used in 
accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The annual financial statements and the budget are not on the 
same basis of accounting therefore a reconciliation between the 
statement of financial performance and the budget have been 
included in the annual financial statements. Refer to note 21.

1.10 RELATED PARTIES

The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting 
entity’s financial statements contain the disclosures necessary 
to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and 
surplus or deficit may have been affected by the existence of 
related parties and by transactions and outstanding balances 
with such parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements 
under the accrual basis of accounting (in this standard referred 
to as the reporting entity) shall apply this standard in:

• identifying related party relationships and transactions;

• identifying outstanding balances, including commitments, 
between an entity and its related parties;

• identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of the 
items in (a) and (b) is required; and

• determining the disclosures to be made about those 
items.

This standard requires disclosure of related party relationships, 
transactions and outstanding balances, including 
commitments, in the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of the reporting entity in accordance with the 
Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements. This standard also applies to individual financial 
statements.

Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding balances, 
including commitments, and relationships with related parties 
may affect users’ assessments of the financial position and 
performance of the reporting entity and its ability to deliver 

agreed services, including assessments of the risks and 
opportunities facing the entity. This disclosure also ensures 
that the reporting entity is transparent about its dealings with 
related parties.

The standard states that a related party is a person or an entity 
with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or 
exercise significant influence over the other party, or vice 
versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint 
control. As a minimum, the following are regarded as related 
parties of the reporting entity:

• A person or a close member of that person’s family is 
related to the reporting entity if that person;

• has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

• has significant influence over the reporting entity and

• is a member of the management of the entity or its 
controlling entity.

An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following 
conditions apply:

• the entity is a member of the same economic entity (which 
means that each controlling entity, controlled entity and 
fellow controlled entity is related to the others);

• one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other 
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of an 
economic entity of which the other entity is a member);

• both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

• one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other 
entity is an associate of the third entity;

• the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the 
benefit of employees of either the entity or an entity 
related to the entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a 
plan, the sponsoring employers are related to the entity;

• the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person 
identified in (a); and

• a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over 
that entity or is a member of the management of that 
entity (or its controlling entity).

The standard furthermore states that a related party 
transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations 
between the reporting entity and a related party, regardless of 
whether a price is charged.

The standard elaborates on the definitions and identification of:

• Close member of the family of a person;

• Management;

• Related parties;

• Remuneration; and

• Significant influence.



84  South African Board for Sheriffs Annual Report 2016

2. Changes in accounting policy

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
on a basis consistent with the prior year.

3. New standards and interpretations 

3.1 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED AND EFFECTIVE

During the current year, the entity has adopted all new and revised standards and interpretations, which have been published and 
are mandatory for the entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2015.

The following standards were effective for first time for financial statements covering periods beginning 1 April 2015.  The 
following standards were not applicable to the entity:

• GRAP 18 Segment reporting

• GRAP 105 Transfers of functions between entities under common control

• GRAP 106 Transfers of functions between entities not under common control

• GRAP 107 Mergers

3.2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED, BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The following standards were issued, but were not yet effective for the 2016 financial year-end:

• GRAP 32 Service concession arrangements: Grantor

• GRAP 108 Statutory receivables

• GRAP 109 Accounting by principals and agents
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

4. Property, plant and equipment

FIGURES IN RAND
 2016 2015

REVALUED
AMOUNT

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION 

CARRYING 
VALUE 

 COST 
 ACCUMULATED 

DEPRECIATION 
 CARRYING 

VALUE 

 Investment in Property 12,052,783 - 12,052,783 12,127,897 (309,509) 11,818,388

       

 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2016  

 OPENING 
BALANCE

 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS
 DEPRECIATION 

CHARGE 
REVALUATION 

RESERVE
CLOSING 

BALANCE

Investment in Property 11,818,388 (71,246 ) 1,732,806 1,850,608 (114,833 ) 1,735,775

    

 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2015  

 OPENING 
BALANCE

 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS
 DEPRECIATION 

CHARGE 
REVALUATION 

RESERVE
CLOSING 

BALANCE

12,020,520 - - (202,132) - 11,818,388

    

 Details of property

  2016  2015 

 The property is situated at 88 Loop Street Cape Town

 -Purchase price: 13,370,326 13,370,326 

 -South African Board for Sheriffs (1,242,429) (1,242,429)

 Total Cost 28 February 2015 12,127,897 12,127,897

 less Accumulated Depreciation at 29 February 2016 (552,066) -

 add Revaluation at 29 February 2016 476,952 -

 Total  Revalued amount/Cost 29 February 2016 12,052,783 12,127,897

The Investment in property represent the 10% of the value of the Fidelity Fund’s assets at the date of purchase of the 
property at 88 Loop Street, Cape Town on the 31 July 2013.  A valuation of the property was undertaken by Powells , 
Asset Valuation and Disposals on the 25th February 2016.  The portion reflected is the portion related to the Fidelity Fund 
only. The property was valued at R13,750,000.
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5. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
   
Loans and receivables 349,974 102,669

Trade and other receivables 83,479,808 79,245,642

Investments held to maturity 30,652,489 24,299,919

Cash and cash equivalents 114,482,271 103,648,230
   
6. Trade and other receivables
   
Trade Receivables 245,736 161,820

Provision for bad debts (36,860) (78,318)

Accrued income 115,792 19,167

SARS VAT 25,306 -

 349,974  102,669

The ageing of accounts receivables are as follows:   

30 days  - 59,603

90 days plus 349,974 43,066

 349,974 102,669
   
7. Cash and cash equivalents   

   
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:   

Bank balances  30,652,489 24,299,919

   
Investments held to maturity  83,479,808 79,245,642

   
An amount of R927,231 was invested in Stanlib.  This investment was recalled by the Board and the balance related to African Bank limited will be 
made available in the next six months to the Fidelity fund.  No further action was taken.  
   
8. Payable to related party   

South African Board for Sheriffs – owed amount  2,819,269 1,886,966

   
The amount is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.   
   
9. Trust account balances   

Sheriff De Kock 1,398,031 1,398,031

Sheriff Butler 365,724 365,724

Sheriff IJ Pretorious 562,763 562,763

Sheriff SH Robertson 173,436 173,436

Sheriff S Du Toit 3,960 3,960

Sheriff J Coetzee - 300,000

Sheriff MA Jacobs - 557,974

Sheriff TP Maulgass 329,085 329,085

 2,833,000 3,690,973

10. Trade and other payables   

Accrued expenses 30,617 -

Sundry Creditors 187,676 78,798

SARS - VAT - 229,971

 218,293 308,769
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11. Financial liabilities by category
 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
   
Financial liabilities by category   

Trade and other payables 218,293 78,798

   

12. Provisions

Opening balance 1 March 2,256,427 2,547,087

Less Claims paid (25,100) (290,660)

Reduction of provision (1,130,537) - 

Provision for uninsured claims 1,100,790 2,256,427

The reduction in the provision relates to over provision from the prior years.   

   

 13. Revenue   
 
Fidelity fund certificates 456,343 385,073

Interest on sheriffs trust accounts 14,627,160 12,341,570

 15,083,503 12,726,643

   

The amounts included in revenue arising from exchange of goods or service are as follows:
   
Fidelity Fund Certificates 456,343 385,073

 456,343 385,073

   

The amounts included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions are as follows:
   
 Interest on sheriffs’ trust accounts  14,627,160 13,397,129

   

14. Operating surplus   

Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:
   
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 242,558 202,132

Auditor’s remuneration 50,000 47,663

   

15. Taxation   

No provision has been made for 2015 taxation as the receipts and accruals to the entity are exempt from income 
tax in terms of section 10(1)(A)(i) of the Income Tax Act.

   

16. Cash generated from operations   

Surplus for the year 11,763,267 6,853,831

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation 242,558 202,132

Interest income (7,357,200) (5,839,326)

Trust balances (857,973) -

Changes in working capital:   

Trade and other receivables (247,305) 221,138

Provisions (1,155,637) (290,660)

Trade and other payables (90,476) (1,750,456)

 2,297,234 (603,341)



88  South African Board for Sheriffs Annual Report 2016

 NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FIGURES IN RAND  2016  2015

17. Related parties 
Relationships

Common Board members South African Board for Sheriffs
The South African Board for Sheriffs was established under the Sheriff’s Act, 90 of 1986 and the Fidelity Fund is managed 
by the Board on behalf of the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services.

The Board enters into various transactions arm’s length with the Fidelity Fund. The Board and the Fidelity Fund had 
common Board members for the year.
 
Related party balances

Payable amount – Owing to related party

South African Board for Sheriffs 2,819,269 1,886,966

Related party transactions
Administration fees charged by related party
South African Board for Sheriffs 10,429,309 9,755,002

The administration fee is based on an agreement signed between the SABFS and the Fidelity fund

18. Risk management

Financial risk management
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

Liquidity risk 
The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash is managed prudently by keeping sufficient cash in bank accounts.  Cash is received from Sheriffs and the Fidelity 
fund.  

Interest rate risk 
The Board has interest-bearing assets and the income and operating cash flows are substantially dependent on the 
changes in the market interest rates.  The interest-bearing assets consist of short term investments with floating interest 
rate that expose the Board to cash flow interest rate risks.  The interest rate used is based on the Prime rate.

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents  and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major 
banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an 
on-going basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, 
risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and 
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board. 
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.
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19. Events after the reporting date

The Board is not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year which significantly affect 
the financial position of the Board or the result of operations.

 20. Public Finance Management Act

At a Board meeting held on the 15th October 2015, the Board resolved that the SABFS would no longer seeking listing in 
terms of the Public Finance Management Act (“PFMA”) schedules as required by S47(2) of the PFMA.  
The entity has therefore not been audited against the requirements of the PFMA, and the entity has therefore maintained its 
financial year for this reporting period as the end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act.

21. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget 

Revenue
The over-recovery of revenue by R2,84,566 representing 14.48% is attributed to the following: 

Sale of goods 
The over-recovery of 14.09% on this line item is directly related to the number of sheriff and deputy appointments for the year under 
review. 

Interest received on trust accounts
The over-recovery of 10.81% of this line item is directly linked to the fact that the Board is more actively ensuring that correct and 
competed information is submitted by the sheriffs.  It is also due to interest hikes that took place during the financial year.

Interest receive on investments 
The over-recovery of 22.73% on this line item is a direct result of the interest hikes that took place during the year.  A new investment 
strategy was implemented close to the end of the financial year.

Operating expenses
Total expenses is under budget by R3,498,207 representing a 24.65% under-recovery which is attributed to the following:

Administrative fees 
The over-recovery of 0.70% on this line item is due to the increase in growth of the Fidelity Fund due to the overall growth in revenues 
for the financial year. 

Audit fees
The under-recovery of 9.09% on audit fees is due austerity measures implemented by the Board.

Bad debts
The under-recovery on this line item is due to the adjustment of the provision for bad debts to 10% of the debit balances as at the end 
of the financial year minus any amounts in the current column of the age analysis.

Bank charges
The under-recovery on this line item is due to fewer transactions on the Fidelity Fund bank accounts.

Building maintenance  
All building expenditure was covered by SABFS.

Claims against the Fidelity Fund
The under-recovery of claims of 293.86% is due to the reduction of provision on Mogane claims, recognition of trust balance where 
claims were paid in the past and claims not yet finalised and which are still under investigation by the Fidelity Fund Refer also to note 
21.

Consulting fees
The under-recovery of 100% on this line item is related to the fact that no special projects were undertaken.

Depreciation
The under-recovery of 2.98% is due to depreciation budget being based on a higher amount for the building.

Insurance
The under-recovery of 13.92% in this line item is due to the zero percent increase in the insurance premium for the year under review.

Legal fees
The under-recovery of 100% in legal fees is because all legal fees were for the SABFS during the current  financial year.

Utilities
This over-recovery of 1.6% was due to the fact that it includes amounts not know during the previous financial and the amounts are 
not material to make any prior year adjustments.
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22. Claims against the Fidelity Fund

Amount expensed in the current year (1,453,937) 8,643
made up of

Current year claims 534,574 8,643
Mogane provision reduced to unpaid claims (1,130,537) -
Trust balances reversed where claims were paid against (857,974) -

Amount expensed in previous financial years 25,100 1,850,527

Total claims paid for the year (1,428,837) 1,859,170

23. VAT Ruling impact

Value Added Taxation(VAT)
Surplus as per Income statement 11,763,267 6,853,831

Vat apportionment adjustment - 257,478

Surplus for the year 11,763,267 7,111,309

The Tax Ruling on the VAT obtain on 29 January 2015 caused the Fidelity Fund to incur a reduction in the surplus in the 
prior year of R257,478.

24. Contingencies

Litigation

As at 29 February 2016, claims amounting to R8,668,136 (2015: R7,227,090) are under litigation against the Fidelity Fund, 
in respect of certain sheriffs, with a possible loss amounting to R4,048,898 (2015: R4,048,898) the outcome of which was 
uncertain at the date of issuing these financial statements. Should the action be successful the Fidelity Fund does have 
insurance cover to cover litigation costs and claims.

STANLIB Investment

During the 2014 Financial year, the Fidelity Fund invested in STANLIB. The Board took a decision to recall this investment. 
Prior to the amount being recalled, a portion of the investment was retained as a reserve, subject to the decision made 
by the Curator of African Bank. The uncertainty relates to an amount of R557,000 which the SABFS cannot recall as it is 
being retained until such time the Curator approves the release.
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29 FEBRUARY 2016

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2016 2015

Revenue

Fidelity Fund Certificates 456,343 385,073

Interest on Sheriffs trust accounts 14,627,160 12,341,570

Operating income 15,083,503 12,726,643

Other income

Interest income 7,357,200 5,839,326

7,357,200 5,839,326

Total Revenue 22,440,703 18,565,969

Operating expenses

Administration fees 10,429,309 9,755,002

Audit Fees 50,000 47,663

Bad Debts (41,458) -

Bank Charges 7,800 6,728

Claims against the Fidelity Fund 22 (1,453,937) 8,643

Consulting fees - 56,928

Depreciation 242,558 202,132

Finance Charges 73,124 13

Insurance 1,248,116 1,238,564

Legal fees - 305,506

Utilities 121,924 90,959

10,677,436 11,712,138

Surplus for the year 11,763,267 6,853,831



Notes
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